University of Alberta

DEVELOPMENT OF A SIROLIMUS-ELUTING MESH TO REDUCE INTRA-ABDOMINAL ADHESIONS

by

ALLISON HEATHER MACIVER

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Experimental Surgery

Department of Surgery

©Allison Heather Maciver Spring 2012 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, whom I thank for their sacrifices, support, and love.

Abstract

Postoperative intra-abdominal adhesions are a significant clinical problem. This project addresses the potential novel role for a sirolimus-eluting hydrogel in the setting of postoperative adhesions caused by polypropylene hernia repair mesh. We review recent literature on adhesion pathogenesis, and examine the progress in development of antiadhesion agents and strategies. We hypothesize an antiproliferative and antifibrotic agent such as sirolimus may minimize or prevent the process at critical steps in the pathway.

A mouse model was developed using a 1x1 cm² polypropylene mesh implanted into the peritoneal cavity. This study revealed that the addition of an agarose hydrogel to the adhesiogenic mesh significantly reduced adhesion incidence, severity and tenacity, and adding sirolimus to the hydrogel further significantly reduced adhesion surface area. Sirolimus has been used in many novel clinical settings for its antifibrotic properties; this work supports its consideration with agarose hydrogel as a prophylactic against postoperative intra-abdominal adhesions.

Acknowledgements

To my surgical mentor and supervisor, Dr. James Shapiro, who was willing from the beginning to take on a fledgling surgical residentscientist, and has supported my work through all of its stages. Dr. Shapiro's commitment to excellence and productivity in research, admirable dedication to patients, and passion for surgery as an art and a science is a continuing inspiration for me. I consider myself very fortunate to have had such an opportunity to learn from Dr. Shapiro and I am grateful for his patience, vision and direction.

To Dr. David Bigam, for his support as a member of my committee and the Program Director of the Clinician Investigator Program. I will always be indebted to Dr. Bigam for my elective experience as a fourthyear medical student, which focused my gaze on Edmonton as the best place for me to follow my surgical calling. I appreciated his input, encouragement and perspective at every meeting to keep myself on track and thank him for his practical guidance.

To Dr. Tom Churchill, who contributed valuable discussion at my supervisory committee meetings, and offered expert help with my manuscript review and statistical analysis – in particular, helping me choose the right test made all the (significant) difference. Dr. Churchill was more than willing to help with the technical problems (mesh cutting trials and tribulations, adventures in failed fluorospectrophotometry) and I thank him for his open-door and encouragement. Dr. Churchill has deepened my appreciation of the breadth and challenges of non-clinical and preclinical research in surgery.

To Dr. Christopher Teshima, for his review of this work and contributing as my External Member of my Defence Committee.

To Dr. Mike McCall, my fellow trainee and PhD candidate in Dr. Shapiro's laboratory, who provided valuable and lively discussions on research and sundry topics, kept the tone of all bench and OR work pleasant with his choice musical selections, and tirelessly edited versions my manuscripts. His contribution to my project was invaluable, not only for his experimental support as a scorer of adhesions and surgeon in our porcine stapling project, but his critique on my writing and presentations was indispensable. I also appreciated the opportunity to assist in the OR with his porcine islet transplant work and will keep many fond memories of the experience. Many heartfelt thanks to my Research Big Brother.

To Dr. Aducio Thiesen, for providing his proficiency in pathology to assess the SEM and histological specimens, as well as thoughtful review of draft versions of the manuscript. It was truly delightful to sit at the microscope and discover the cellular response to our experiment. I thank Dr. Thiesen for guiding me through this.

To research technician Mr. Ryan Edgar; I am grateful for his patience with me as I learned the skills of mouse surgery and my way around the lab. Mr. Edgar's commitment to my project was unwavering, even after his professional obligations had ended, and his help at all stages and extensive knowledge of animal work was invaluable to me. I also thank Mrs. Rena Pawlick, and Ms. Joy Davis who supported my experiments, cared for research animals, and provided feedback on presentations and my work to date. I thank Mrs. Pawlick for introducing me to the laboratory and the details of mouse work, and providing a sense of humor and lightness at the more challenging, "visceral" parts of particular experiments.

Ms. Dawne Colwell provided her artistic assistance to render several beautiful images for inclusion in my work.

Dr. Ming Chen at the Medicine/Dentistry Electron Microscope Unit, for his expert assistance in capturing the micrographs of the mesh

Administrative support provided by Ms. Cherry Robertson, Ms. Christina Smith, and Ms. Tomiko Norrish was indispensable and allowed efficient communication with the graduate program and my supervisory committee.

Salary support was provided by the University of Alberta Clinician Investigator Program.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Understanding Pathogenesis and Developing New Strategies for Prevention of Intra-abdominal Adhesions	
Abstract	2
I: Introduction	
Estimates of Morbidity	4
Adhesive intestinal obstruction	5
Reoperation	
Chronic pain	o
Estimates of socioeconomic burden	
II: Etiology and Pathogenesis	11
Historical Context	11
The Peritoneum	12
The Role of Fibrin	
Cellular Players	
Humoral mediators	19
III. Prevention	
Classical approaches	23
Barrier methods	24
Pharmacological methods	29
Sirolimus in a Pharmacologic + Barrier Adhesion Prophylaxis	
Surgeon Factors	
IV. Conclusion	
References	45
Chapter 2: Sirolimus drug-eluting, hydrogel-impregnated polypropylene mesh reduces intra-abdominal adhesion forn a mouse model	nation in 60
Abstract	61
Introduction	63
Methods	66
Animals and Reagents	66
Mesh materials	66
Surgical Technique	67
Assessment of Systemic Sirolimus Levels	68
Assessment of Adhesions: Necropsy studies	
Assessment of Adhesions: Scanning Electron Microscopy	
Statistics	70
Results	71

Serial Systemic Sirolimus Levels Macroscopic Observation of Adhesions: Time Course Macroscopic Observation of Adhesions by Group: Plain, Hydrogel, Hydrogel + Scanning Electron Microscopy	72 72 SRL .73 73
Discussion	75
References	93
Conclusions and Future Directions	97
APPENDIX	105
APPENDIX A: DEVELOPMENT OF THE MODEL	106
APPENDIX B: ELUTION STUDY	110
APPENDIX C: HISTOLOGY	113

List of Tables

Table 1-1. Selected methods of adhesion prevention.	. 41
Table 1-2. Selected In Vitro Cellular Effects of Sirolimus.	. 42
Table 2-1. Adhesion score.	. 80
Table 3-1. Cost estimation of raw materials for 1cm ² sirolimus- eluting, hydrogel-impregnated polypropylene mesh	103

Figure 1-1. Artistic rendition of the evoked emotional response of the surgeon on encountering intra-abdominal adhesions
Figure 1-2. Summary of postsurgical adhesion formation
Figure 2- 2A. Macroscopic image of selected representative mesh specimen at 4 week necropsy 82
Figure 2-1. Necropsy photo: intestinal obstruction with adhesive loop of intestine to edge of mesh in one case (hydrogel control group)
Figure 2-2B. Macroscopic image of selected representative mesh specimen at 4 week necropsy: notable central sparing of mesh in the hydrogel group
Figure 2-2C. Macroscopic image of selected representative mesh specimen at 4 week necropsy: notable central sparing of mesh in the hydrogel + SRL group
Figure 2-3A. Time-course study of the model using plain polypropylene mesh:Surface Area
Figure 2-3B. Time-course study of the model using plain polypropylene mesh:Severity score
Figure 2-3C. Time-course study of the model using plain polypropylene mesh: Tenacity score
Figure 2-4A. Percentage of mesh surface area covered by adhesions, by group, at 4-week necropsy
Figure 2-4B. Severity scores of adhesions, by group, at 4-week necropsy
Figure 2-4C. Tenacity scores of adhesions, by group, at 4-week necropsy
Figure 2-5. Scanning electron microscopy of mesh before implantation
Figure 2-6(A-D). Scanning electron microscopy of viscera-facing surface of representative polypropylene mesh samples

Figure 3-1. Necropsy photo from animal that required euthanasia	
before experimental end point	102

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Adhesion Related Disorder
basic fibroblast growth factor
Body Mass Index
cubic centimeter
CC family chemokine ligand 1
CC chemokine receptor 8
cluster of differentiation 4 positive
FK binding protein
glycosaminoglycan
interleukin
matrix metalloproteinase
mammalian target of rapamycin
National Health Service
plasminogen activator
plasminogen activator inhibitor
proteoglycan
Prostaglandin E2
polylactic coglycolic acid
surface active phospholipid
Surgical and Clinical Adhesions Research
soluble interleukin-6 receptor
sirolimus
Transforming Growth Factor Beta
tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase
Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha
tissue plasminogen activator
United Kingdom
urokinase-like plasminogen activator
Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

Chapter 1

Understanding Pathogenesis and Developing New Strategies for Prevention of Intra-abdominal Adhesions

A version of this chapter was published in *The International Journal of Surgery*. In press, available online 22 September 2011. doi:10.1016/j.ijsu.2011.08.008

Abstract

Postoperative intra-abdominal adhesions are a complication of healing after tissue trauma, and represent a significant clinical problem. This review summarizes the recent literature on estimates of disease burden and the sequelae of adhesions, such as risk involved in subsequent reoperation, female infertility and chronic pain. The history of our understanding of the development of adhesions is explored, and the pathogenesis of adhesion formation is summarized based on new findings including the role of fibrin and cellular mediators. Given the increasing burden of surgical disease in the world population, and the frequency of reoperation, prevention of adhesion formation will continue to be an important goal in surgical research. Many methods of prophylaxis are discussed in detail, not limited to barrier devices and pharmacological therapy but also summarizing surgeon factors which influence adhesiogenesis.

I: Introduction

Enduring as a surgical footprint, peritoneal adhesions present a challenging problem for surgeons and their patients. They develop following abdominal and pelvic surgery as a natural response to tissue trauma to visceral or parietal peritoneal surfaces. They are despairingly common, and a near certainty on re-operation: in a prospective analysis of 210 patients undergoing a laparotomy with one or more previous abdominal operations, 93% had adhesions, compared with 10.4% in firsttime laparotomy patients (1). In a 1993 survey of UK surgeons, it was felt that adhesions and their sequelae represent a large portion of the general surgical workload, though treatment and prevention practice varies widely (2).

The phenomenon of pathological, persistent connections that form between peritoneum and intraperitoneal organs following surgery or other tissue trauma has several terms in the literature: post-operative adhesions, peritoneal adhesions, intra-abdominal adhesions, or simply adhesions. For the purposes of discussion, it is understood that these fibrous connections are not limited to contacts with peritoneal surfaces, but may form between organs as well.

In this review, we examine the morbidity and cost of adhesion-related complications, the spectrum of disease, and review the work that has been done to elucidate the pathophysiology of adhesion development. Methods of prophylaxis against abdominopelvic adhesions will be discussed as well as the development of future techniques and devices.

Estimates of Morbidity

Familiar to any general surgeon, there is a spectrum of morbidity, and mortality, associated with adhesions (**Figure1-1**). Stanciu and Menzies suggested adhesions should be considered to be the most common complication of abdominopelvic surgery, and "for any other disease or operation, with a recognized complication with such a high incidence, a prophylactic therapy or preventive strategy would be recommended if not mandatory." (3) As the incidence of abdominal surgery increases worldwide, so does the incidence of adhesions; as longevity increases, so does the incidence of relaparotomy and relaparoscopy. The issue is only becoming more relevant, however despite this, adhesion-related complications are rarely documented in a patients consent for surgery (4).

The Surgical and Clinical Adhesions Research (SCAR) group was formed in the UK to address the issue, using the Scottish NHS Medical records database, with the main purpose to follow a cohort of abdominal-surgery

patients for a defined period of time. In one retrospective SCAR study, 29,970 patients undergoing open abdominal or pelvic surgery were tracked through this database. In the ten years since their initial surgery, 34.6% were readmitted a mean of 2.1 times for a disorder directly or possibly related to adhesions. Of these readmissions, 22.1% happened within the first year of surgery (5). The SCAR group also examined differences in readmission rates by site of operation, age, concomitant disease (peritonitis, malignancy, Crohn's) and whether patients had surgery in the previous 5 years. They found that lower abdominal surgery carried the highest risk of readmission due to adhesions, with panproctocolectomy (15.4%), ileostomy surgery (10.6%) and total colectomy (8.8%) associated with the worst rates. There was a higher risk of readmission in patients <60 years of age, and in those with concomitant peritonitis at their initial surgery. Crohn's disease and malignancy were not associated with readmission due to adhesions (6).

Adhesive intestinal obstruction

The most serious complication of adhesions is intestinal obstruction, accounting for more than 40% of all cases of obstruction and 60-70% of small bowel obstructions (7). Studying a 25-year period, Menzies and Ellis determined 261 of 28,297 adult general surgical admissions were for intestinal obstruction from adhesions (0.9%), and of 4,502 laparotomies,

148 were for adhesive obstruction (3.3%)(1). In the first cohort study on this topic, laparotomies were followed up for an average of 14.5 months. Of the 2,708 laparotomies, 26 developed intestinal obstruction due to postoperative adhesions within 1 year of surgery (1%) and 14 within one month of surgery (0.5%) (1). This surgical emergency carries a mortality rate of 3-10% for simple obstruction, rising to 30% if bowel becomes necrotic or perforated (7).

A retrospective cohort review based on Medicare records in the US by Beck et al. in 1999 confirmed the SCAR findings of adhesion-related complications as a significant clinical burden. Within two years of surgery, small bowel obstruction was a problem in 14.3% of patients who had a small bowel operation, 17% of colonic operations, 15.3% of rectal operations, and 12.4% of other abdominal operations. Those requiring adhesiolysis for small bowel obstruction in these groups were 2.6%, 3.1%, 5.1% and 2.3% respectively (8).

Reoperation

Any subsequent laparotomy or laparoscopy adds potential risk for the patient. Adhesions between omentum and the anterior abdominal wall often make difficult work of entry into the abdomen, increases the risk of intestinal perforation and fistula formation, and can make safe insertion of trocars and insufflation impossible. Adhesions surrounding normal anatomy can challenge one's ability to safely remove the pathology in several ways – including preventing adequate surgical exposure and safe mobilization or dissection.

It has been demonstrated that the presence of adhesions significantly increases operative time, not only by preventing access to the peritoneal cavity but also dissection at the site of the pathology (9). Adhesiolysis has well-known risks of bleeding, inadvertent enterotomy and damage to organs such as the liver, spleen, bladder and ureter. Despite this understanding, there is a paucity of literature on this aspect of the topic; perhaps due to underreporting. As Van Goor suggests, "One might speculate that surgeons consider a liver laceration, splenic bleeding or bladder injury caused by adhesiolysis, which are repaired intraoperatively, as an unpleasant but normal part of a reoperation not worthwhile reporting or not even worth informing the patient." (10)

Most studies on adhesions are retrospective in nature. In one such review of 270 reoperations, inadvertent enterotomy occurred in 52 (19%), with independent risk factors including increasing age and having more than three previous laparotomies. Increasing BMI was also associated with enterotomy on univariate analysis. Those patients with enterotomies suffered with more complications postoperatively as well, with significantly

more numbers of urgent relaparotomies, admissions to ICU, and parenteral nutrition use (11). The presence of an enterotomy adds considerable risk to incisional hernia repair, especially when foreign-body mesh material is required to reconstruct the abdominal wall.

Adhesions are a common reason for conversion from laparoscopy to laparotomy, and thereby may result in longer hospital stays and other morbidity associated with conversion.

Female reproductive issues

Adnexal adhesions are a cause of secondary female infertility and dyspareunia. In a 1994 analysis of a US national hospital discharge database by Ray, adhesions were responsible for an estimated 15-20% of female infertility cases (12). They may also be associated with ureteral obstruction and voiding dysfunction (13).

Chronic pain

The relationship between chronic abdominal or pelvic pain and adhesions is controversial. Many patients with chronic abdominal or pelvic pain have adhesions, and adhesions are a common finding in patients without chronic pain, making it difficult to establish a causal relationship. Randomized trials have shown that adhesiolysis in patients with chronic pain is ineffective, possibly because adhesions are known to reform. It has been proposed that adhesions may cause pain when they interfere with normal anatomical relationships of structures, and during activity when peritoneum is pulled at attachment sites (14). There has been recent mention in the literature of defining Adhesion Related Disorder (ARD) and progression to a larger entity, Complex Abdominopelvic and Pain Syndrome (15).

Demco et al have discussed the relationship between adhesions and pain. A trial with 30 chronic pain patients undergoing an awake laparoscopy found that touching and moving adhesions with a stereotactic probe could elicit a pain sensation. Additionally, filmy adhesions that permitted more movement between structures caused more pain on a visual analog scale than denser, fibrous ones, and the worst pain was noted when the adhesion was between a mobile organ (ovary, bladder, small bowel) and the parietal peritoneum (16-17). Pathological studies of adhesion tissue have also identified the presence of sensory nerves in these structures (18).

Estimates of socioeconomic burden

In 1994, Ray et al. analyzed the economic impact of adhesions in the US by using a national hospital discharge database. In one year, adhesiolysis was responsible for 303,836 hospitalizations, primarily for procedures on the digestive and female reproductive systems. This accounted for 846,415 days of inpatient care and US\$1.3 billion in hospitalization and surgeon costs (12). An estimate from Sweden suggested that adhesive bowel obstruction alone may cause 2,330 hospitalizations annually in that country, with an estimated direct cost of US\$13 million (19). Costs estimated for Finland were over US\$12 million (20). This topic was recently reviewed by Wilson (21), and a model was constructed using the SCAR data. The cumulative direct costs of adhesion-related readmissions due to lower abdominal surgery alone are estimated to be over €908 million for a 10-year period.

Though data is sparse, there has been one review from the UK by Ellis and Crowe, of medico-legal claims regarding adhesion-related complications. In 1995-2007, 57 claims related to abdominopelvic adhesions were closed, 29 of these successful with a settlement totaling over £3.3 million (22).

It follows that as surgeons create more surgical patients, and surgical patients live longer lives, the burden of abdominopelvic adhesions will continue to grow. This burden will manifest itself in a multitude of ways including increased patient morbidity and mortality, increasing need for emergent surgical treatment for obstructions, readmissions, lost productivity, lost operative time that would be allocated to other procedures, and overall health care costs. This problem will persist and progress, placing further strain on an already strained system.

II: Etiology and Pathogenesis

Historical Context

The earliest records of adhesions were observations made at autopsy, and were rare in the days before anaesthesia and antisepsis made laparotomy a more common procedure. Baille and others described fibrinous adhesions found in the abdomen of patients who had died of acute peritonitis, and the supposition was that these originated from coagulated lymph (23). The earliest report of postoperative adhesions may be attributed to Bryant in 1872 (24), who wrote of a fatal small bowel obstruction resulting from an adhesion passing to a ligature from an

ovarian cystectomy. Adhesions were identified as a significant cause of small bowel obstruction soon after this; in a review by Gibson of 1000 patients in 1888-1898, intraperitoneal adhesions caused 18 (6%) of the acute intestinal obstructions (25).

Observations of adhesions were made in the operating theatre and at autopsy, and surgeons began to take interest in the phenomenon towards the end of the 19th century. The role of denuded peritoneum and serosal surfaces was theorized to be important, as was the fibrinous exudate and whether or not it was reabsorbed or became organized.

The Peritoneum

Traversing peritoneal endothelium is an inevitable part of abdominal surgery, whether by hand or by instrument. Elucidation of the mechanisms of peritoneal tissue healing is integral to understanding adhesion formation, and is an area which has received increasing attention over the past 20 years. The biology of peritoneal repair is now known to involve a concert of chemical mediators, cytokines, cell types, degradation products, and proteases to produce a final result - which may ultimately form any place along a spectrum; from a cordlike adhesion to scarcely any artefact of the trauma.

The lining of the peritoneal cavity extends as parietal and visceral peritoneum; visceral peritoneum is present as mesothelial lining cells reflected onto the viscera (26). Histologically, the peritoneum consists of two layers: a mesothelium, one cell layer thick, and a connective tissue layer (27). The mesothelial layer is fragile and regenerates from injury by a simultaneous and rapid differentiation over the surface, rather than from centripetal migration from epithelial cells as is seen with healing skin (28). The implication is that large defects heal as rapidly as small ones. Interestingly, the mesothelial layer of both visceral and parietal peritoneum is coated with a surfactant-like agent, surface-active phospholipid (SAPL) which is theorised to serve as a "non-stick coating" (29).

Normal peritoneal fluid also contains many of the plasma proteins (in about 50% of the quantity of serum) including fibrinogen. There are also many active proteins and chemical mediators present, such as interleukins, interferon- γ , TNF- α , TGF- β , and VEGF (30). Additionally there are circulating, free macrophages and other immune cells present in the peritoneal fluid (31), which bathes the potential space in a small quantity (physiological mean 10cc). Molecules may enter and exit the fluid by means of transudation or exudation.

Healing following surgical injury to peritoneum follows one of two algorithms, as proposed by Duron in his 2007 review on the subject (30).

The first algorithm consists of the proliferation and regeneration of the mesothelial cell layer from an origin that has yet to be clearly identified; likely candidates include totipotent underlying mesenchymal cells, or migration of cells from another site (periphery of injury, nearby sites, or via transformation of cells in peritoneal fluid) (30). The second algorithm is centred on the alteration of fibrinolysis, producing a "peritoneal scar," and is of interest in the context of adhesion formation.

The Role of Fibrin

Many believe a pivotal tipping point in adhesion formation is how a healing body locally balances fibrin production and fibrinolysis. The inciting event of a surgical trauma or inflammation of the peritoneum results in a denuded surface, submesothelial damage and injury to blood vessels thereby invoking an inflammatory response (32). There is simultaneous activation of the coagulation cascade and fibrin deposition at the site (33), which is additive with any bleeding from the site. Mediators such as histamine and PGE₂ cause increased permeability of the blood vessels in the traumatized area, and a serosanguinous exudate rich in inflammatory cells pours forth – coagulating in as little as 3 hours (32, 34).

The exudate also contains substrates such as fibronectin, hyaluronic acid, various glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), and proteoglycans (PGs) (33). The

inactive fibrinogen turns to a tacky fibrin matrix gel, which may be distributed between two unrelated structures. Under normal conditions, the majority of fibrinous connections are lysed within a few days of their formation (34), by locally released proteases of the fibrinolytic system. It is theorized that if they persist, fibroblasts may proliferate within the substrate matrix, and establish these connections as permanent.

The physiologic fibrinolytic sequence is normally initiated by plasmin. Plasmin is a fully active serine protease which is made from plasminogen by the action of plasminogen activators (PAs) (30). One PA in particular, tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), is responsible for producing 95% of the plasmin generated in the response to peritoneal injury (35). After surgery, tPA knockout mice seem to be more susceptible to adhesion formation (36).

In a pathological state, plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAIs) interfere with the action of PAs and the production of plasmin, ultimately leading to an altered ability to degrade fibrin split products (fibrinolysis). It has been discovered that in the setting of peritoneal inflammation and injury, there are two types of PAI produced: PAI-1 (the main fibrinolytic inhibitor) and PAI-2 (37-38). PAI-1 specifically prevents the formation of plasmin by binding to and inhibiting the activities of tPA and uPA (urokinase-like plasminogen activator). These two serine proteases are the main

activators of fibrinolysis, and activation of PAI-1prevents the degradation of fibrin. Surgery dramatically diminishes fibrinolytic activity, by increasing levels of PAIs and by reducing tissue oxygenation (39). Eventually, in the absence of an effective fibrinolytic response, there exists a fibrin gel matrix which may serve as the scaffolding for development of a mature adhesion.

Cellular Players

Following the inciting trauma, the cells present are predominantly neutrophils, with a shift to mostly macrophages at 24h. Interestingly, macrophages at the peritoneal injury site after surgery have been found to differ from resident macrophages. These post-surgical macrophages secrete substances such as cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase metabolites, plasminogen activator (PA), plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI), collagenase, elastase, interleukins 1 and 6, tumour necrosis factor (TNF), leukotriene B₄, and prostaglandin E₂ (32, 40). These macrophages have the ability to recruit new mesothelial cells to the site of the injury (41).

Peritoneal macrophages in particular have been implicated as key players in the immune response triggering adhesion formation. They have a unique autocrine activation system whereby a chemokine (CCL1) and its receptor (CCR8) are released in response to tissue damage. Migration of peritoneal macrophages (and the development of adhesions) has been

interrupted and adhesion incidence reduced by abrogating the CCL1/CCR8 interaction (42).

There is some evidence to suggest that fibroblasts are the main cellular players in promoting the maturation of an adhesion. Fibroblast content increases in the second week post-trauma, followed by the inclusion of vessel structures and connective tissue elements (43-44). At three weeks, the development of the adhesion becomes quite prominent (45). Rout et al. isolated fibroblasts from normal peritoneum and adhesions, and found that they differed markedly in their phenotype (46). The expression of genes with products responsible for cell proliferation, differentiation, signalling molecules, transcription and translation factors, proteolysis and cytokines were seen to be differently expressed between normal fibroblast phenotype and the adhesion fibroblast phenotype. There were also marked effects of hypoxia and TGF- β on the expression of some of these products in the fibroblasts, suggesting some, but not exclusive, regulatory influence of these on the pathway (46).

Higher levels of degranulated mast cells have also been found in the presence of adhesions in rats (47), and the early event of release of VEGF by mast cells has been suggested to be central to the adhesion development (48). Further analysis of the cellular elements of adhesions by Binnebosel et al. has shown infiltrates of macrophages and T-cells, in

consistent quantities regardless of the maturity of the adhesion (49). This characterization of a state of chronic inflammation suggests T-cells may play a role in signalling pathways that maintain adhesions, and prompts consideration of adhesions as a dynamic process in remodelling tissue (49). Certainly it is clear that adhesions can re-form after adhesiolysis (50-53).

The infiltration of T-cells and the perpetuation of chronic inflammation in the peritoneum proceed under the influence of many signals, including the promoting effects of IL-6 (54) and other cytokines. T-cell depletion and adoptive transfer experiments have confirmed that adhesion formation requires the presence of CD4+ alpha beta T cells, and the production of some proinflammatory cytokines are dependent on T cells (IL-17 and others) (55). Since many fibrotic tissue disorders share a common etiology of T cell-mediated abnormalities in host defense, adhesions have been considered as another example of this.

Morphologically, the appearance of ongoing organization of scar tissue may be characterized by the formation of vascular capillaries and the disappearance of granulocytes from the adhesions. More organized adhesions have regular strands of collagen in connective tissue and the disappearance of activated fibroblasts and vascular capillaries (56). The mature adhesions are often covered with mesothelium (52).

These observations have all contributed to the recognition of adhesions as "dynamic regenerating structures that may be perpetuated by a distinct cellular and inflammatory response (49)."

Humoral mediators

Immune responses, including cell trafficking, are accomplished at the cellular level by the orchestrated release of cytokines and chemokines. Whether adhesion formation represents an abnormal or disordered version of peritoneal healing may be considered by examining the roles of various signalling molecules that appear along the course of events.

<u>i) TGF-beta</u>

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) is the most studied cytokine in the pathophysiology of adhesion development, and has been suggested as the principal profibrotic mediator of the process (57). In an animal model, it has been shown that intraperitoneal application of TGF- β to surgical adhesions resulted in worsening of the adhesions compared with controls not given TGF- β (58) and animals given TGF- β -neutralizing antibody have shown reduced adhesion formation (59). In humans, the relationship is less clear. In vitro, TGF- β reduces peritoneal fibrinolytic capacity, an important step in disbanding of early adhesions (60). Interestingly, it has been observed in human peritoneal tissue that TGF- β

expression co varied with PAI-1, the main fibrinolytic inhibitor. Patients with more extensive adhesions had higher peritoneal concentrations of TGF- β (61).

<u>ii) VEGF</u>

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is known as a potent angiogenic factor and may have a role in adhesion development (62-63). It is also directly involved in early inflammatory processes and wound healing by effects on fibroblast function (64). In an animal model, intraperitoneal treatment with an antibody to VEGF has resulted in a lower incidence of advanced adhesions (65).

iii) Interleukins

Other mediators, such as interleukins, are receiving attention for their role in adhesion development. Comparing serum and peritoneal fluid levels of interleukin-1 (IL-1), post-operative patients have a significantly higher level in the peritoneum, suggesting a possible local action of this interleukin (66). Rats treated pre-operatively with anti-IL-1 had fewer adhesions postoperatively than controls (67). Based on these and other observations, a likely mode of action of IL-1 is to promote adhesion formation by increasing fibrin deposits, reducing fibrinolysis, and stimulating mesothelialization of the structure (31).

Interleukin-6, interleukin-8 and interleukin-10 are all theorized to participate in modulation of the cellular response to peritoneal injury, however the roles are still not clear (31). Mesothelial cells are the principal IL-6 secreting cells in the peritoneal cavity, and on challenge by inflammation they produce large amounts of this cytokine (68). Interleukin-6 is known for both pro- and anti-inflammatory effects. When complexed with its receptor (IL-6/sIL-6R) found on invading neutrophils, it influences a shift from leukocyte recruitment in the acute phase of inflammation to an influx of sustained mononuclear leukocytes (69). Interestingly, a recent study in mice showed a reduction in postoperative adhesions in animals receiving an intra-abdominal infusion of cold saline postoperatively, a finding which also correlated with lower serum levels of IL-6 and higher serum levels of anti-inflammatory IL-10 (70). Intraperitoneal injection of exogenous IL-10 has been shown to reduce postoperative adhesion formation in a mouse model (71).

iv) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) is able to promote production of interleukins by mesothelial cells (72), and high levels of TNF- α in peritoneal fluid and serum postoperatively have been shown to be correlated with severity of adhesions in a rat model (73). However, administration of neutralizing anti-TNF- α antibodies failed to reduce

adhesion formation in this model (67) and while involved in the process, determining its role requires further study.

v) MMPS and TIMPS

Still other mediators deserve mention for their potential effects on adhesion development. Matrix metalloproteinase enzymes (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are present in differing quantities throughout body tissues. Analysis of peritoneal fluid and serum in patients with and without postsurgical adhesions has shown that affected patients had lower serum TIMP-2 levels, which may have potential to serve as a marker for individuals who will form adhesions with greater severity (74).

A pictorial representation summarizing some of the proposed mechanisms of postsurgical adhesion formation is presented in **Figure 1-2**.

III. Prevention

Given that postoperative adhesions are common, costly, and cause significant burden to patients, there continues to be a growing interest in developing ways to reduce their incidence. An enormous body of work has been carried out both in the laboratory and the operating theatre to find ways of preventing or reducing adhesion formation. The most common and modern means of approaching the problem has been the use of a barrier between or over damaged surfaces, administration of pharmacologics, or a combination of these. Additional factors such as technique are also relevant to the discussion.

Objective comparison of different methods of adhesion reduction remains problematic; there have been many small animal models developed for study, and accordingly many variations of standardized scoring systems. As well, animals sacrificed at different time points may prevent crosscomparison of studies. Clinical studies have the inherent problem of determining the extent of adhesions post-surgery and post-intervention as there is no planned opportunity for re-look in the majority of surgical patients. This is likely only one of the reasons that there is no method or technique of adhesion prevention that surgeons currently agree upon (2).

Classical approaches

Given the importance of fibrin in the adhesion formation pathway, there have been many attempts at reducing its presence at the scene. Removal of already-formed fibrin using trypsin, pepsin, papain, as well as mechanical removal by lavage and by hand has produced inconsistent and anecdotal results. Given the inevitability of adhesions, surgeons have attempted plication of the intestine or peritoneum to minimize the incidence of adhesions causing obstruction; the intestine has also been

'splinted' with a long intestinal tube to this end (75). Surgeons often mobilize the omentum to areas such as the wound closure site to protect the bowel from adhesion to areas of tissue trauma (2). Even so, the only method available to treat adhesions that have already formed is with surgical adhesiolysis.

Barrier methods

Preventing contact of two traumatized surfaces has been a recurring theme in efforts to reduce adhesions. Historically this has included trials of distending the abdomen with oxygen, or filling it with saline, Ringer's lactate, gelatine, paraffin, olive oil, lanolin, dextran, polysiloxanes, or even amniotic fluid (75). As recently as 2009, aloe vera gel (76) and soybean oil (77) have been found to reduce adhesions if applied before, but not after, peritoneal trauma in an animal model. Octyl methoxycinnamate, a viscous biologically inert liquid, has also been studied by this group, with similarly positive outcomes (78). Icodextrin, a colloid used in peritoneal dialysis solutions, has also been instilled in the abdomen during gynaecological procedures to reduce adhesion formation, and its tolerance among general surgery patients was studied by creating a multicentre registry (79-80). Data supporting its use as an antiadhesive agent in general surgery patients is sparse. In reality, the use of some of
these substances has been uncomfortable for patients, causing wound leakage, and pulmonary and perineal edema(81).

Damaged peritoneum has also been covered using various materials in the past, including amniotic membrane, gold beater's skin, oiled silk, calf peritoneum, free grafts of omentum and oxidized cellulose (75). Many of these failed, likely due to the simple tenet that barriers must carry no infection risk, and should not create an environment for fibroblast localization. As well, for a barrier to be clinically effective, it should be easy to use in both laparoscopic and open procedures, should be applicable over oozing surfaces in addition to adhering to the desired tissue long enough to prevent adhesions. How long is this period? It is difficult to determine with certainty, especially given the limited clinical data, however, many hold the view that critical events in adhesion formation occur by day 7 (82-85).

As mentioned previously, it is known that the mesothelial cell layer of the peritoneum is coated with a natural anti-stick coating, a thin film of surface-active phospholipid (29). Experimental application of exogenous phospholipids has been a promising area of development. Phosphatidylcholine, sphingolipid, and galactolipid (56) have decreased the areas of postoperative adhesion in animal studies. Phosphatidylcholine has been shown in several studies to have a

beneficial effect in the rat (86-89), but with the side effect of impaired healing of intestinal anastomoses at higher concentrations. SprayGel, a novel hydrophilic polyethylene glycol based adhesion barrier, is formed by spraying two liquid precursors onto surgical sites. It is reabsorbed and renally cleared by 5 days post application, and using a porcine model was found to significantly reduce the incidence of adhesions (90). Applying Poloxamer 407, a polymer of hydrophilic non-ionic surfactant, after adhesiotomy in an animal model has reduced the incidence of reformation of adhesions. It has yet to be studied in humans (91).

Interceed barrier (Johnson and Johnson, New Brunswick, New Jersey) is a fabric made of oxidized-regenerated cellulose and was the first barrier used that demonstrated an improvement in postoperative adhesions in humans (92). However, further studies have suggested it is not suitable for use in the face of significant bleeding and may actually increase the incidence of adhesion formation in this setting (92-93). Expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (Gore-Tex Surgical Membrane) has also been studied in an animal model and compared to oxidized-regenerated cellulose. There was a localized injurious effect on the peritoneum resulting in de novo adhesions in the case of the cellulose, while Gore-Tex showed neither peritoneal injury nor adhesions (93).

Hyaluronic acid, also called hyaluronan or hyaluronate, has long been a subject of interest in antiadhesion research. It is a naturally occurring glycosaminoglycan and forms a highly viscous solution to coat serosal surfaces. There has been much work with this substance with varying outcomes. In a single intraperitoneal dose at time of operation, Treutner et al. found the mean area of adhesions reduced by 84% compared to control in their animal model (56). Other animal studies have shown a reduction of adhesion formation when the hyaluronic acid was applied before the trauma, but not a reduction in reformation after the division of existing adhesions (94-95). A cross-linkable hyaluronan hydrogel has been developed for use with or without nanoparticles (96-97) and initial animal studies have been promising.

A bioabsorbable membrane consisting of hyaluronic acid in combination with carboxymethoxycellulose is produced under the name Seprafilm (Genzyme Corporation, Cambridge, Mass.). There is also a viscous liquid form of the product, Sepracoat (Genzyme Corporation, Cambridge, Mass), which has shown favourable results in gynaecological procedures (98). Seprafilm is a thin membrane which is placed in the abdomen before closure at sites of surgical trauma for the purpose of adhesion prevention. Its hydrophilic properties cause it to swell and take on a gel-like consistency over the subsequent 24-48 hours. It is resorbed within the first 7 days of placement and is fully excreted by 28 days. Several animal

and human studies with Seprafilm have shown promising results; a systematic review and meta-analysis in 2007 suggested that Seprafilm can decrease abdominal adhesions after general surgery. However, it did increase the rate of abdominal abscesses and anastomotic leaks (99). Seprafilm is not recommended for use around fresh intestinal anastomoses.

While barrier methods attempt to abort adhesion formation through prevention of surface contact, their introduction into general clinical practice has been restricted by several factors. Though a few are commercially available, drawbacks include difficulties in preparation and application, the need for absolute hemostasis, insufficient pliability, intricate product fixation techniques, and incompatibility with laparoscopic surgical procedures (100). In addition, concern regarding possible adverse outcomes has been raised. For example, while preventing adhesion formation is a priority, any device would be of little benefit if the rate of anastomotic leak increased. Without clear understanding of how these agents might interfere with normal intra-abdominal wound healing, their use deserves caution.

Pharmacological methods

Many different agents have been used in the effort to arrest the adhesion pathway or to tip the balance in the favour of fibrinolysis. Drugs may be administered systemically, or ideally, locally at the site of adhesion formation with minimal systemic effect. Due to the physiology of the peritoneal cavity, it can serve as a site for uptake of large molecules; even particles the size of cells may pass through the lymphatic lacunae located in the submesothelial layer. There are obvious implications for biocompatibility and toxicity of any material used for adhesion prevention (31).

As most share the view that critical events in adhesion formation occur in the first days following tissue insult, the durations of drug release required for adhesion prevention may be quite short.

The inflammatory component of the pathogenesis of adhesion formation has been a target for pharmacotherapy, and a variety of steroidal and antiinflammatory drugs have been studied, including aspirin, dexamethasone, methylprednisolone, estrogen, progesterone and budesonide (101-108). However, the effectiveness of these agents has not been consistent in animal models and clinical trials (109). Yeo et al. showed in an animal model that the co-delivery of budesonide with a hyaluronan hydrogel

prevented adhesions completely in the majority of animals (106), but has yet to be tested in humans. Additional insight into development of delivery vehicles has been gained through a model for sustained local delivery of dexamethasone using poly(lactic co-glycolic) acid(PLGA) microparticles. This method was more effective than a dexamethasone crystal suspension in preventing adhesions (102), however a small amount of microparticles actually worsened adhesions and blank PLGA microparticles caused adhesions (110).

As fibrin deposition and activation of the clotting cascade have been identified as major parts of adhesion formation, heparin has been suggested in an attempt to reduce the contribution of clotting to the process. There is some evidence from animal models that suggests local intraperitoneal administration of low-dose heparin throughout the immediate postoperative interval may result in fewer adhesions (111).

Other targets of the fibrin-fibrinolysis pathway include use of fibrinolytic drugs and plasminogen activating factor (82, 103, 112-114). These have been effective in a dose-dependent manner (115) but are noted to impair wound healing. Ancrod, an experimental defibrinogenating agent made from Malayan pit viper venom, has been used experimentally in combination with a hydrogel to reduce adhesions (116). Since all fibrinolytic drugs can potentially induce bleeding, their general acceptance

for routine use in the prevention of postoperative adhesions is not to be expected.

There may be a role for several medications approved for other indications, such as mitomycin C, paclitaxel and sirolimus. Mitomycin C is an antitumour antibiotic that is also known to inhibit fibroblast proliferation for several weeks in vitro. It has been combined with a crosslinked hyaluronan hydrogel for the purposes of adhesion reduction in an animal model (100). It has also been used locally in strabismus surgery to limit postoperative adhesion, a property which is attributed to its antifibrinolytic activity (117), and for prevention of recurrent intra-abdominal adhesions in rats (118). Antiproliferative agents such as paclitaxel and sirolimus may also have promising applications in adhesion reduction devices. Paclitaxel-loaded crosslinked hyaluronic acid films reduced adhesion incidence in a rat model (119). Sirolimus, a macrolide group antibiotic with immunosuppressive and antiproliferative properties, will be discussed later in this chapter.

Lastly, there are a number of novel compounds which have been used in an attempt to prevent adhesions. Tranilast, an anti-proliferative medication, leads to reduced collagen formation in vitro. It has been combined with a gel in an experimental animal model to inhibit development of adhesions (120) and has yet to be tested clinically for this purpose. There is evidence to suggest methylene blue dye may act as an

antioxidant in the postoperative peritoneum and serve to reduce the incidence of adhesion. In one study it was also found to enhance fibrinolytic activity in peritoneal fluid (121). Postoperative stimulation of motility using prokinetic drugs has also been found to reduce adhesions in a rat model, and conversely, administering atropine worsened them (122). Taurolidine is a drug with antimicrobial and anti-lipopolysaccharide properties, and has immune modulatory action via priming and activation of macrophages. It has been used in experimental animal models to reduce adhesions, with inconsistent results (56, 123-124).

A summary of selected pre-clinical and clinical trials of devices and drugs is provided in **Table 1-1**. Given the location of drug delivery and barrier placement, there are obvious implications for biocompatibility and toxicity of any material used for adhesion prevention (31). The future of adhesion prevention strategy likely has the most promise in a device which combines targeted pharmacology with a barrier method; the device developed in this thesis work follows this strategy.

Sirolimus in a Pharmacologic + Barrier Adhesion Prophylaxis

Sirolimus is the generic name for the natural product rapamycin, a lipophilic macrocyclic lactone, which was isolated from a strain of *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* found in soil on Easter Island (Rapa Nui) in

1975. It is a macrolide group antibiotic which was initially isolated as an antifungal agent, and discovery of its antitumor/antiproliferative and immunosuppressive properties followed. Sirolimus binds to an intracellular binding protein termed FKBP (FK binding protein) and this complex targets the pivotal regulator of cell growth and proliferation: the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR).

Blocking the mTOR has a very wide range of downstream effects, all of which may play a potential role in halting adhesion formation at a cellular and humoral level. Briefly, in possibly the most universal of its effects, blocking the mTOR impedes cell proliferation of many cell lines, including those of connective tissue origin, by arresting the cell in the G1 and S phases. Sirolimus is also a potent inhibitor of cell proliferation and protein synthesis mediated by growth factor (125). The blocking of mTOR by the sirolimus:FKBP complex also negatively affects CD28-mediated sustained upregulation of IL-2 transcription in T cells (126). In resting cells, a binding protein (4E-BP1), when phosphorylated by mTOR is responsible for translation of some specific mRNAs required for cell growth and differentiation (127). Sirolimus thus inhibits this process.

Sirolimus is known to inhibit the proliferation of tumor cell lines (recently reviewed by Alvarado et al.(128)), and it or related mTOR inhibitors have been approved for use in treating malignancies such as renal cell

carcinoma (129), mantle cell lymphoma (130), and subependymal giant cell astrocytoma (131). Its potent antiangiogenic effects are accomplished in part by inhibiting PDGF-stimulated proliferation of smooth muscle cells(132). As adhesions at all measures of maturity contain vessel structures and connective tissue elements (52), perhaps arresting their formation early in development would deprive the tissue of necessary promoting factors and be an effective detriment.

It has been reported that administration of systemic sirolimus in hamsters with an implanted surgical mesh resulted in inhibition of angiogenesis, reduction of collagen deposition, and an overall impairment of incorporation of the mesh when compared with cyclosporine-treated and control animals(133). Systemic sirolimus has been shown to contribute to the formation of incisional hernias after liver transplantation, a consequence of this impaired wound healing (134). Risk factors such as age >40 years, BMI >26, use of thymoglobulin for induction immunosuppression, and larger cumulative doses of sirolimus have been related to having wound complications (135).

Perhaps the most direct role of sirolimus in preventing adhesion formation might be its ability to block basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)-induced proliferation of endothelial cells and fibroblasts (136). It has become wellknown for its use in decreasing the rate of restenosis in coronary artery

stents (137). Fibroblasts synthesize collagen, and dense adhesions have more total collagen and higher collagen type I/III ratios. Indeed, fibrosis of many organs and tissues has been reduced with administration of sirolimus in preclinical models, including hepatic fibrosis in rats (138), renal fibrosis in mice (139), subglottic stenosis in a rabbit model (140), pulmonary fibrosis in transgenic mice (141), and most recently urethral stricture in rabbits (142). Sirolimus has been used experimentally in an animal aortic PTFE vascular graft model to reduce retroperitoneal adhesions (143). Anecdotally, some surgeons suggest transplant patients receiving sirolimus have fewer adhesions on relaparotomy. The potential for one drug to intervene at multiple points along the known cellular and humoral pathways of adhesion formation makes a compelling argument for further investigation of the effect of sirolimus on adhesion formation. Dosing to achieve maximum therapeutic effect with a minimum of known immunosuppressive and wound healing side effects would be imperative. This may be accomplished by avoidance of systemic administration or absorption, and instead, locally delivering the sirolimus to the site of tissue trauma and inflammation.

A summary of *in vitro* cellular effects of sirolimus is found in **Table 1-2**.

Surgeon Factors

There are some technical points which deserve mention in any discussion of tissue trauma and adhesion formation. Careful and atraumatic handling of tissue is essential to reducing serosal damage. Grafting or suturing of peritoneal defects increases tissue trauma, ischemia, devascularisation and necrosis, predisposing the site to decreased fibrinolysis and adhesion formation (144). Choice of scalpel may also influence development of adhesions as several experimental studies have suggested that sharp mechanical tissue transection was followed by the least amount of reaction, and resulted in less necrosis than the CO₂ laser, electrocautery, or the ultrasonic scalpel (145-147).

The first reports of granuloma and adhesion formation from magnesium silicate dusting powder from sterilized surgical gloves appeared in 1937 (148), and the association of talc, starch, and silicates with adhesions has been established and reviewed extensively since (43, 149-150). Surgeons should therefore choose to use gloves which contribute little adhesiogenic contamination to the surgical field. Foreign bodies have been found on microscopy in a large percentage of adhesions (151). Commonly found items include wood particles from paper products, lint from cloth drapes and packs, and suture materials. With regard to suture material choice in particular, the type of suture material (including surgical staples) seems to

be less of an adhesiogenic factor than the amount used (knot configuration or suture gauge), and the finer the gauge, the less adhesiogenic the suture (152-153).

Reduction in the magnitude of the activation of coagulation cascade by careful attention to hemostasis can be supplemented by use of newer adjuncts. However, the choice of hemostatic agents has been shown to influence adhesion formation in a rat model (154). In a comparison of six materials (oxidized cellulose, polyethylene glycol polymer, activated starch microspheres, thrombin-coated microspheres, fibrin glue, and glutaraldehyde activated collagen), polyethylene glycol polymer and activated starch microspheres appeared to reduce the incidence of adhesions compared to controls at day 7 (154). Glutaraldehyde activated collagen had an adverse effect of tissue necrosis and adhesion formation. In terms of surgical technique, the majority of studies on the subject favour the idea that laparoscopic surgery is less adhesiogenic than open abdominal surgery (155-158). Recent work by Brokelman and Holmdahl has assessed the peritoneal fibrinolytic response to both types of surgery by measurement of serum tPA antigen and tPA activity, and PA-I during and at the conclusion of surgery. It was found that open surgery creates a worse hypofibrinolytic state than laparoscopic surgery earlier in the case, but that the levels of markers were no different at the end. Additionally, these parameters were measured during use of heated CO_2 versus room-

temperature CO_2 for insufflation, and showed a significantly higher level of PA-1 in the room-temperature patients (159), suggesting a change in peritoneal biology with this stress. The clinical outcome of adhesion formation from these serum measurements has yet to be observed and quantified. Other aspects of laparoscopic surgery, such as light intensity, intra-abdominal pressure, and choice of dissection device have not been shown to affect peritoneal activity during short-term laparoscopy (158).

Whether or not to perform peritoneal closure on conclusion of laparotomy has been a topic of debate. As previously outlined, the healing of peritoneal defects is accomplished at the same rate regardless of the size of the defect. Closure of the peritoneum subjects tissue to additional factors which are known to be adhesiogenic: suture material, tissue hypoxia and ischemia, activation of the coagulation cascade, and trauma due to tissue handling. Studies have also demonstrated the safety in general surgery and gynaecological patients of not closing this layer, prompting surgeons to reconsider this practice (160).

There are a number of operative techniques which surgeons can adopt in an attempt to reduce the burden of adhesion formation. It is unlikely that any of these will lead to a complete reduction in post-operative adhesions. However, employing multiple techniques is not only good surgical practice

but also possibly a means of reducing the future impact of any adhesions which do form.

IV. Conclusion

Postoperative adhesions represent a problem of considerable magnitude for surgeons, patients and the health care system worldwide. Morbidity resulting from adhesive tissue following an abdominal or pelvic surgical procedure is significant and is a burden the patient carries with them for the rest of their lives. The search for a solution to the problem has been extensive with many promising results in animal studies, but few of these developments have been extended to clinical trials. Human data is also difficult to acquire for the ethical reasons of planned relaparotomy. From our increased understanding of the multifactorial nature of adhesion pathogenesis, and our beginning knowledge of the effects of cellular and molecular mediators of the process, there is room for significant individual variation in adhesiogenesis.

Development of a successful adhesion reduction system will likely come from the interface of biophysics and pharmacology, and the use of an agent that exploits a facet of the cellular signaling or molecular pathways. A device that will release controlled amounts of this agent, over a prescribed period of time and only in the location and cellular milieu that it

is needed is a worthwhile endeavour. The reasons for failure of previous designs are varied, and rapid clearance of drugs from the peritoneum could be a cause of the limited effectiveness of intraperitoneally applied drugs. As well, our use of small animal models can be limiting, as they prevent the use of laparoscopic devices, have reduced organ volume, and it can be theorized that forces may be insufficient to challenge the ability of a barrier to remain attached to the desired site, as suggested by Ferland (90).

To date, there is no method or device in widespread use, and there has been a failure of intraperitoneal adjuncts to improve the outcomes (30, 33, 109). Despite much progress in elaborating the complexity of the problem, it remains a critical surgical challenge.

	Reference	Model	
Barrier methods			
Aloe vera gel	Aysan et. al, 2009	Rat	
Soybean oil	Aysan et. al, 2009	Rat	
Octyl methoxycinnamate	Aysan et. al, 2009	Rat	
Icodextrin	diZerega et.al, 2002, Menzies et. al, 2006	Clinical trial, Clinical trial	
Phosphatidylcholine	Ar'Rajab et. al, 1991, Roszga et. al, 1990, Snoj et. al, 1992, 1993, Treutner et. al, 1995	Rat, Rat, Rat, Rabbit	
SprayGel	Ferland et. al, 2001	Pig	
Poloxamer 407	Steinleitner et. al, 1991	Rabbit	
Interceed	DeLaco et. al, 1998, Haney and Doty, 1992	Rabbit, Mouse	
Gore-Tex Surgical Membrane	Haney and Doty, 1992	Mouse	
Oxidized-regenerated cellulose	Haney and Doty, 1992	Mouse	
Hyaluronic acid/hyaluronan/hyaluronate, and Seprafilm	Numerous	Models have included mouse, rat, rabbit, as well as clinical trials	
Pharmacological			
methods			
Aspirin	Golan et. al, 1995	Rat	
Dexamethasone	Buckenmaier et. al, 1999, Gazzaniga et. al, 1975, Hockel et. al, 1987, Kucukozkan et. al, 2004	Rat, Rat, Rat, Rabbit	
Methylprednisolone	Gazzaniga et. al, 1975	Rat	
Estrogen	Bozkurt et. al, 2009	Rat	
Progesterone	Maurer and Bonaventura, 2003	Guinea pig	
Budesonide	Yeo et. al, 2003	Rabbit	
Heparin	Bahadir et. al, 2007, Fukasawa et. al, 1991	Mouse, Rabbit	
tissue plasminogen activator	Buckenmaier et. al, 1999 and others	Rat	
Streptokinase	Buckenmaier et. al, 1999	Rat	
Urokinase	Buckenmaier et. al, 1999	Rat	
Ancrod	Chowdhury and Hubbell, 1996	Rat	
Mitomycin C	Cubukcu et. al, 2001 and 2002, Liu et. al, 2005	Rat, Rat	
Paclitaxel	Jackson et. al, 2002	Rat	
Tranilast	Petrilli et. al, 2008	Rabbit	
Methylene blue dye	Heydrick et. al, 2007	Rat	
Taurolidine	Bahadir et. al, 2007, Tarhan et. al, 2008, Treutner et. al, 1995	Mouse, Rat, Rabbit	

Table 1-2. Selected *In Vitro* Cellular Effects of Sirolimus. Modified from Sehgal, S.N. Sirolimus: Its Discovery, Biological Properties, and Mechanism of Action. 2003: *Transplantation Proceedings* 35 (Suppl 3A), 7s-14S.

Cell Type	Stimulus	Function	Response to Sirolimus
T lymphocytes	Mitogen, antigen	Proliferation	Inhibition
	IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-12, IL-15	Proliferation	Inhibition
Mast cells	IL-4, IL-3	Proliferation	Inhibition
Smooth Muscle Cells	Growth factors	Proliferation	Inhibition
Fibroblasts	Growth factors	Proliferation	Inhibition

Figure 1-1. Artistic rendition of the evoked emotional response of the surgeon on encountering intra-abdominal adhesions.



Figure 1-2. Summary of postsurgical adhesion formation. Trauma to peritoneal and other intra-abdominal tissue results in an exudate rich in proinflammatory cytokines and various cell types. These in turn serve to activate the coagulation cascade and a fibrin mesh forms, eventually resorbing or maturing into an adhesive connection between the surfaces.



References

- 1. Menzies D, Ellis H. Intestinal obstruction from adhesions--how big is the problem? Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1990 Jan;72(1):60-3.
- 2. Scott-Coombes DM, Vipond MN, Thompson JN. General surgeons' attitudes to the treatment and prevention of abdominal adhesions. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1993 Mar;75(2):123-8.
- 3. Stanciu D, Menzies D. The magnitude of adhesion-related problems. Colorectal Dis. 2007 Oct;9 Suppl 2:35-8.
- 4. Rajab TK, Wallwiener M, Talukdar S, Kraemer B. Adhesion-related complications are common, but rarely discussed in preoperative consent: a multicenter study. World J Surg. 2009 Apr;33(4):748-50.
- 5. Ellis H, Moran BJ, Thompson JN, Parker MC, Wilson MS, Menzies D, et al. Adhesion-related hospital readmissions after abdominal and pelvic surgery: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 1999 May 1;353(9163):1476-80.
- 6. Parker MC, Wilson MS, Menzies D, Sunderland G, Clark DN, Knight AD, et al. The SCAR-3 study: 5-year adhesion-related readmission risk following lower abdominal surgical procedures. Colorectal Dis. 2005 Nov;7(6):551-8.
- 7. Ellis H. The clinical significance of adhesions: focus on intestinal obstruction. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997(577):5-9.
- 8. Beck DE, Opelka FG, Bailey HR, Rauh SM, Pashos CL. Incidence of small-bowel obstruction and adhesiolysis after open colorectal and general surgery. Dis Colon Rectum. 1999 Feb;42(2):241-8.
- 9. Coleman MG, McLain AD, Moran BJ. Impact of previous surgery on time taken for incision and division of adhesions during laparotomy. Dis Colon Rectum. 2000 Sep;43(9):1297-9.
- 10. van Goor H. Consequences and complications of peritoneal adhesions. Colorectal Dis. 2007 Oct;9 Suppl 2:25-34.
- 11. Van Der Krabben AA, Dijkstra FR, Nieuwenhuijzen M, Reijnen MM, Schaapveld M, Van Goor H. Morbidity and mortality of inadvertent enterotomy during adhesiotomy. Br J Surg. 2000 Apr;87(4):467-71.

- Ray NF, Denton WG, Thamer M, Henderson SC, Perry S. Abdominal adhesiolysis: inpatient care and expenditures in the United States in 1994. J Am Coll Surg. 1998 Jan;186(1):1-9.
- Monk BJ, Berman ML, Montz FJ. Adhesions after extensive gynecologic surgery: clinical significance, etiology, and prevention. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994 May;170(5 Pt 1):1396-403.
- 14. Hammoud A, Gago LA, Diamond MP. Adhesions in patients with chronic pelvic pain: a role for adhesiolysis? Fertil Steril. 2004 Dec;82(6):1483-91.
- Wiseman DM. Disorders of adhesions or adhesion-related disorder: monolithic entities or part of something bigger--CAPPS? Semin Reprod Med. 2008 Jul;26(4):356-68.
- 16. Demco L. Pain mapping of adhesions. J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc. 2004 May;11(2):181-3.
- 17. Demco LA. Pain referral patterns in the pelvis. J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc. 2000 May;7(2):181-3.
- 18. Sulaiman H, Gabella G, Davis MC, Mutsaers SE, Boulos P, Laurent GJ, et al. Presence and distribution of sensory nerve fibers in human peritoneal adhesions. Ann Surg. 2001 Aug;234(2):256-61.
- Ivarsson ML, Holmdahl L, Franzen G, Risberg B. Cost of bowel obstruction resulting from adhesions. Eur J Surg. 1997 Sep;163(9):679-84.
- Kossi J, Salminen P, Rantala A, Laato M. Population-based study of the surgical workload and economic impact of bowel obstruction caused by postoperative adhesions. Br J Surg. 2003 Nov;90(11):1441-4.
- 21. Wilson MS. Practicalities and costs of adhesions. Colorectal Dis. 2007 Oct;9 Suppl 2:60-5.
- 22. Ellis H, Crowe A. Medico-legal consequences of post-operative intraabdominal adhesions. Int J Surg. 2009 Jun;7(3):187-91.
- Baillie M. The morbid anatomy of some of the most important parts of the human body. The 2d American from the 3d London ed. Walpole N.H.: Printed by G.W. Nichols, for W. Fessenden, bookseller, Brattleborough; 1808.
- 24. Bryant T. Clinical lectures on intestinal obstruction. Med Times Gazette. 1872;1:363-5.

- Gibson CL. VI. A Study of One Thousand Operations for Acute Intestinal Obstruction and Gangrenous Hernia (Concluded.). Ann Surg. 1900 Nov;32(5):676-707.
- 26. Schwartz SI, Brunicardi FC. Schwartz's principles of surgery. 9th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, Medical Pub. Division; 2009.
- Michailova KN, Usunoff KG. Serosal membranes (pleura, pericardium, peritoneum). Normal structure, development and experimental pathology. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol. 2006;183:i-vii, 1-144, back cover.
- Eskeland G. Regeneration of parietal peritoneum in rats. 1. A light microscopical study. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand. 1966;68(3):355-78.
- Hills BA. Lubrication of visceral movement and gastric motility by peritoneal surfactant. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 1996 Sep;11(9):797-803.
- 30. Duron JJ. Postoperative intraperitoneal adhesion pathophysiology. Colorectal Dis. 2007 Oct;9 Suppl 2:14-24.
- Holmdahl L, Ivarsson ML. The role of cytokines, coagulation, and fibrinolysis in peritoneal tissue repair. Eur J Surg. 1999 Nov;165(11):1012-9.
- 32. Ergul E, Korukluoglu B. Peritoneal adhesions: facing the enemy. Int J Surg. 2008 Jun;6(3):253-60.
- 33. Boland GM, Weigel RJ. Formation and prevention of postoperative abdominal adhesions. J Surg Res. 2006 May;132(1):3-12.
- Buckman RF, Jr., Buckman PD, Hufnagel HV, Gervin AS. A physiologic basis for the adhesion-free healing of deperitonealized surfaces. J Surg Res. 1976 Aug;21(2):67-76.
- Holmdahl L, Eriksson E, al-Jabreen M, Risberg B. Fibrinolysis in human peritoneum during operation. Surgery. 1996 Jun;119(6):701-5.
- Sulaiman H, Dawson L, Laurent GJ, Bellingan GJ, Herrick SE. Role of plasminogen activators in peritoneal adhesion formation. Biochem Soc Trans. 2002 Apr;30(2):126-31.
- Holmdahl L. The role of fibrinolysis in adhesion formation. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997(577):24-31.

- Falk K, Bjorquist P, Falk P, Hedgren M, Ivarsson ML, Lanne B, et al. Antifibrinolytic proCPU is present in the peritoneal cavity during surgery. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2003;63(4):287-96.
- diZerega GS. Biochemical events in peritoneal tissue repair. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997(577):10-6.
- 40. Rodgers KE, diZerega GS. Function of peritoneal exudate cells after abdominal surgery. J Invest Surg. 1993 Jan-Feb;6(1):9-23.
- 41. Menzies D. Peritoneal adhesions. Incidence, cause, and prevention. Surg Annu. 1992;24 Pt 1:27-45.
- 42. Hoshino A, Kawamura YI, Yasuhara M, Toyama-Sorimachi N, Yamamoto K, Matsukawa A, et al. Inhibition of CCL1-CCR8 interaction prevents aggregation of macrophages and development of peritoneal adhesions. J Immunol. 2007 Apr 15;178(8):5296-304.
- Holmadhl L, al-Jabreen M, Xia G, Risberg B. The impact of starchpowdered gloves on the formation of adhesions in rats. Eur J Surg. 1994 May;160(5):257-61.
- Buckman RF, Woods M, Sargent L, Gervin AS. A unifying pathogenetic mechanism in the etiology of intraperitoneal adhesions. J Surg Res. 1976 Jan;20(1):1-5.
- 45. Belluco C, Meggiolaro F, Pressato D, Pavesio A, Bigon E, Dona M, et al. Prevention of postsurgical adhesions with an autocrosslinked hyaluronan derivative gel. J Surg Res. 2001 Oct;100(2):217-21.
- 46. Rout UK, Saed GM, Diamond MP. Expression pattern and regulation of genes differ between fibroblasts of adhesion and normal human peritoneum. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2005;3:1.
- 47. Canturk NZ, Vural B, Cubukcu A, Duzcen E, Utkan Z, Dulger M. Experimental study on the role of mast cells in peritoneal adhesion formation. East Afr Med J. 1999 Apr;76(4):233-6.
- 48. Cahill RA, Wang JH, Soohkai S, Redmond HP. Mast cells facilitate local VEGF release as an early event in the pathogenesis of postoperative peritoneal adhesions. Surgery. 2006 Jul;140(1):108-12.
- Binnebosel M, Rosch R, Junge K, Lynen-Jansen P, Schumpelick V, Klinge U. Macrophage and T-lymphocyte infiltrates in human peritoneal adhesions indicate a chronic inflammatory disease. World J Surg. 2008 Feb;32(2):296-304.

- Liakakos T, Thomakos N, Fine PM, Dervenis C, Young RL. Peritoneal adhesions: etiology, pathophysiology, and clinical significance. Recent advances in prevention and management. Dig Surg. 2001;18(4):260-73.
- 51. Epstein JC, Wilson MS, Wilkosz S, Ireland G, O'Dwyer ST, Herrick SE. Human peritoneal adhesions show evidence of tissue remodeling and markers of angiogenesis. Dis Colon Rectum. 2006 Dec;49(12):1885-92.
- 52. Herrick SE, Mutsaers SE, Ozua P, Sulaiman H, Omer A, Boulos P, et al. Human peritoneal adhesions are highly cellular, innervated, and vascularized. J Pathol. 2000 Sep;192(1):67-72.
- Binnebosel M, Klinge U, Rosch R, Junge K, Lynen-Jansen P, Schumpelick V. Morphology, quality, and composition in mature human peritoneal adhesions. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2008 Jan;393(1):59-66.
- 54. McLoughlin RM, Jenkins BJ, Grail D, Williams AS, Fielding CA, Parker CR, et al. IL-6 trans-signaling via STAT3 directs T cell infiltration in acute inflammation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Jul 5;102(27):9589-94.
- Chung DR, Chitnis T, Panzo RJ, Kasper DL, Sayegh MH, Tzianabos AO. CD4+ T cells regulate surgical and postinfectious adhesion formation. J Exp Med. 2002 Jun 3;195(11):1471-8.
- Treutner KH, Bertram P, Lerch MM, Klimaszewski M, Petrovic-Kallholm S, Sobesky J, et al. Prevention of postoperative adhesions by single intraperitoneal medication. J Surg Res. 1995 Dec;59(6):764-71.
- 57. Chegini N. TGF-beta system: the principal profibrotic mediator of peritoneal adhesion formation. Semin Reprod Med. 2008 Jul;26(4):298-312.
- 58. Williams RS, Rossi AM, Chegini N, Schultz G. Effect of transforming growth factor beta on postoperative adhesion formation and intact peritoneum. J Surg Res. 1992 Jan;52(1):65-70.
- 59. Lucas PA, Warejcka DJ, Young HE, Lee BY. Formation of abdominal adhesions is inhibited by antibodies to transforming growth factorbeta1. J Surg Res. 1996 Oct;65(2):135-8.
- 60. Tietze L, Elbrecht A, Schauerte C, Klosterhalfen B, Amo-Takyi B, Gehlen J, et al. Modulation of pro- and antifibrinolytic properties of human peritoneal mesothelial cells by transforming growth factor

beta1 (TGF-beta1), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) and interleukin 1beta (IL-1beta). Thromb Haemost. 1998 Feb;79(2):362-70.

- Holmdahl L, Kotseos K, Bergstrom M, Falk P, Ivarsson ML, Chegini N. Overproduction of transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGF-beta1) is associated with adhesion formation and peritoneal fibrinolytic impairment. Surgery. 2001 May;129(5):626-32.
- 62. Cahill RA, Redmond HP. Cytokine orchestration in post-operative peritoneal adhesion formation. World J Gastroenterol. 2008 Aug 21;14(31):4861-6.
- 63. Wiczyk HP, Grow DR, Adams LA, O'Shea DL, Reece MT. Pelvic adhesions contain sex steroid receptors and produce angiogenesis growth factors. Fertil Steril. 1998 Mar;69(3):511-6.
- 64. Diamond MP, El-Hammady E, Munkarah A, Bieber EJ, Saed G. Modulation of the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human fibroblasts. Fertil Steril. 2005 Feb;83(2):405-9.
- Saltzman AK, Olson TA, Mohanraj D, Carson LF, Ramakrishnan S. Prevention of postoperative adhesions by an antibody to vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor in a murine model. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1996 May;174(5):1502-6.
- Tsukada K, Katoh H, Shiojima M, Suzuki T, Takenoshita S, Nagamachi Y. Concentrations of cytokines in peritoneal fluid after abdominal surgery. Eur J Surg. 1993 Sep;159(9):475-9.
- 67. Kaidi AA, Nazzal M, Gurchumelidze T, Ali MA, Dawe EJ, Silva YJ. Preoperative administration of antibodies against tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and interleukin-1 (IL-1) and their impact on peritoneal adhesion formation. Am Surg. 1995 Jul;61(7):569-72.
- Witowski J, Jorres A, Coles GA, Williams JD, Topley N. Superinduction of IL-6 synthesis in human peritoneal mesothelial cells is related to the induction and stabilization of IL-6 mRNA. Kidney Int. 1996 Oct;50(4):1212-23.
- 69. Hurst SM, Wilkinson TS, McLoughlin RM, Jones S, Horiuchi S, Yamamoto N, et al. II-6 and its soluble receptor orchestrate a temporal switch in the pattern of leukocyte recruitment seen during acute inflammation. Immunity. 2001 Jun;14(6):705-14.
- 70. Fang CC, Chou TH, Lin GS, Yen ZS, Lee CC, Chen SC. Peritoneal infusion with cold saline decreased postoperative intra-abdominal adhesion formation. World J Surg. 2010 Apr;34(4):721-7.

- Holschneider CH, Cristoforoni PM, Ghosh K, Punyasavatsut M, Abed E, Montz FJ. Endogenous versus exogenous IL-10 in postoperative intraperitoneal adhesion formation in a murine model. J Surg Res. 1997 Jul 1;70(2):138-43.
- 72. Betjes MG, Tuk CW, Struijk DG, Krediet RT, Arisz L, Hart M, et al. Interleukin-8 production by human peritoneal mesothelial cells in response to tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1, and medium conditioned by macrophages cocultured with Staphylococcus epidermidis. J Infect Dis. 1993 Nov;168(5):1202-10.
- Kaidi AA, Gurchumelidze T, Nazzal M, Figert P, Vanterpool C, Silva Y. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha: a marker for peritoneal adhesion formation. J Surg Res. 1995 May;58(5):516-8.
- 74. Chegini N, Zhao Y, Kotseos K, Ma C, Bennett B, Diamond MP, et al. Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinase and tissue inhibitor of MMP in serosal tissue of intraperitoneal organs and adhesions. BJOG. 2002 Sep;109(9):1041-9.
- 75. Ellis H. Postoperative intra-abdominal adhesions: a personal view. Colorectal Dis. 2007 Oct;9 Suppl 2:3-8.
- 76. Aysan E, Bektas H, Ersoz F. A new approach to postoperative peritoneal adhesions: Prevention of peritoneal trauma by aloe vera gel. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2009 Dec 21.
- 77. Aysan E, Bektas H, Kaygusuz A, Huq GE. A new approach for decreasing postoperative peritoneal adhesions: preventing peritoneal trauma with soybean oil. J Invest Surg. 2009 Jul-Aug;22(4):275-80.
- 78. Aysan E, Bektas H, Kaygusuz A. Efficacy of octyl methoxycinnamate in preventing postoperative peritoneal adhesions: An experimental model. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2009 Dec;35(6):1102-8.
- diZerega GS, Verco SJ, Young P, Kettel M, Kobak W, Martin D, et al. A randomized, controlled pilot study of the safety and efficacy of 4% icodextrin solution in the reduction of adhesions following laparoscopic gynaecological surgery. Hum Reprod. 2002 Apr;17(4):1031-8.
- Menzies D, Pascual MH, Walz MK, Duron JJ, Tonelli F, Crowe A, et al. Use of icodextrin 4% solution in the prevention of adhesion formation following general surgery: from the multicentre ARIEL Registry. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2006 Jul;88(4):375-82.

- Magyar DM, Hayes MF, Spirtos NJ, Hull ME, Moghissi KS. Is intraperitoneal dextran 70 safe for routine gynecologic use? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985 May 15;152(2):198-204.
- Orita H, Fukasawa M, Girgis W, diZerega GS. Inhibition of postsurgical adhesions in a standardized rabbit model: intraperitoneal treatment with tissue plasminogen activator. Int J Fertil. 1991 May-Jun;36(3):172-7.
- 83. Dunn RC, Mohler M. Effect of varying days of tissue plasminogen activator therapy on the prevention of postsurgical adhesions in a rabbit model. J Surg Res. 1993 Mar;54(3):242-5.
- 84. Harris ES, Morgan RF, Rodeheaver GT. Analysis of the kinetics of peritoneal adhesion formation in the rat and evaluation of potential antiadhesive agents. Surgery. 1995 Jun;117(6):663-9.
- 85. Holmdahl L, Risberg B, Beck DE, Burns JW, Chegini N, diZerega GS, et al. Adhesions: pathogenesis and prevention-panel discussion and summary. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997(577):56-62.
- 86. Snoj M, Ar'Rajab A, Ahren B, Bengmark S. Effect of phosphatidylcholine on postoperative adhesions after small bowel anastomosis in the rat. Br J Surg. 1992 May;79(5):427-9.
- Snoj M, Ar'Rajab A, Ahren B, Larsson K, Bengmark S. Phospholipase-resistant phosphatidylcholine reduces intraabdominal adhesions induced by bacterial peritonitis. Res Exp Med (Berl). 1993;193(2):117-22.
- 88. Ar'Rajab A, Ahren B, Rozga J, Bengmark S. Phosphatidylcholine prevents postoperative peritoneal adhesions: an experimental study in the rat. J Surg Res. 1991 Mar;50(3):212-5.
- 89. Rozga J, Andersson R, Srinivas U, Ahren B, Bengmark S. Influence of phosphatidylcholine on intra-abdominal adhesion formation and peritoneal macrophages. Nephron. 1990;54(2):134-8.
- Ferland R, Mulani D, Campbell PK. Evaluation of a sprayable polyethylene glycol adhesion barrier in a porcine efficacy model. Hum Reprod. 2001 Dec;16(12):2718-23.
- 91. Steinleitner A, Lambert H, Kazensky C, Cantor B. Poloxamer 407 as an intraperitoneal barrier material for the prevention of postsurgical adhesion formation and reformation in rodent models for reproductive surgery. Obstet Gynecol. 1991 Jan;77(1):48-52.

- Prevention of postsurgical adhesions by INTERCEED(TC7), an absorbable adhesion barrier: a prospective randomized multicenter clinical study. INTERCEED(TC7) Adhesion Barrier Study Group. Fertil Steril. 1989 Jun;51(6):933-8.
- Haney AF, Doty E. Murine peritoneal injury and de novo adhesion formation caused by oxidized-regenerated cellulose (Interceed [TC7]) but not expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (Gore-Tex Surgical Membrane). Fertil Steril. 1992 Jan;57(1):202-8.
- Urman B, Gomel V. Effect of hyaluronic acid on postoperative intraperitoneal adhesion formation and reformation in the rat model. Fertil Steril. 1991 Sep;56(3):568-70.
- 95. Urman B, Gomel V, Jetha N. Effect of hyaluronic acid on postoperative intraperitoneal adhesion formation in the rat model. Fertil Steril. 1991 Sep;56(3):563-7.
- Yeo Y, Highley CB, Bellas E, Ito T, Marini R, Langer R, et al. In situ cross-linkable hyaluronic acid hydrogels prevent post-operative abdominal adhesions in a rabbit model. Biomaterials. 2006 Sep;27(27):4698-705.
- Yeo Y, Ito T, Bellas E, Highley CB, Marini R, Kohane DS. In situ cross-linkable hyaluronan hydrogels containing polymeric nanoparticles for preventing postsurgical adhesions. Ann Surg. 2007 May;245(5):819-24.
- Diamond MP. Reduction of de novo postsurgical adhesions by intraoperative precoating with Sepracoat (HAL-C) solution: a prospective, randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled multicenter study. The Sepracoat Adhesion Study Group. Fertil Steril. 1998 Jun;69(6):1067-74.
- Zeng Q, Yu Z, You J, Zhang Q. Efficacy and safety of Seprafilm for preventing postoperative abdominal adhesion: systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Surg. 2007 Nov;31(11):2125-31; discussion 32.
- 100. Liu Y, Li H, Shu XZ, Gray SD, Prestwich GD. Crosslinked hyaluronan hydrogels containing mitomycin C reduce postoperative abdominal adhesions. Fertil Steril. 2005 Apr;83 Suppl 1:1275-83.
- 101. Kucukozkan T, Ersoy B, Uygur D, Gundogdu C. Prevention of adhesions by sodium chromoglycate, dexamethasone, saline and aprotinin after pelvic surgery. ANZ J Surg. 2004 Dec;74(12):1111-5.

- 102. Hockel M, Ott S, Siemann U, Kissel T. Prevention of peritoneal adhesions in the rat with sustained intraperitoneal dexamethasone delivered by a novel therapeutic system. Ann Chir Gynaecol. 1987;76(6):306-13.
- Buckenmaier CC, 3rd, Pusateri AE, Harris RA, Hetz SP. Comparison of antiadhesive treatments using an objective rat model. Am Surg. 1999 Mar;65(3):274-82.
- 104. Maurer JH, Bonaventura LM. The effect of aqueous progesterone on operative adhesion formation. Fertil Steril. 1983 Apr;39(4):485-9.
- 105. Gazzaniga AB, James JM, Shobe JB, Oppenheim EB. Prevention of peritoneal adhesions in the rat. The effects of dexamethasone, methylprednisolone, promethazine, and human fibrinolysin. Arch Surg. 1975 Apr;110(4):429-32.
- 106. Yeo Y, Adil M, Bellas E, Astashkina A, Chaudhary N, Kohane DS. Prevention of peritoneal adhesions with an in situ cross-linkable hyaluronan hydrogel delivering budesonide. J Control Release. 2007 Jul 31;120(3):178-85.
- 107. Bozkurt S, Yuzbasioglu MF, Bulbuloglu E, Gul M, Kale IT. Prevention of postoperative peritoneal adhesions by administration of estrogen. J Invest Surg. 2009 Jul-Aug;22(4):263-7.
- 108. Golan A, Maymon R, Winograd I, Bukovsky I. Prevention of postsurgical adhesion formation using aspirin in a rodent model: a preliminary report. Hum Reprod. 1995 Jul;10(7):1797-800.
- 109. Jansen RP. Failure of intraperitoneal adjuncts to improve the outcome of pelvic operations in young women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985 Oct 15;153(4):363-71.
- 110. Kohane DS, Tse JY, Yeo Y, Padera R, Shubina M, Langer R. Biodegradable polymeric microspheres and nanospheres for drug delivery in the peritoneum. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2006 May;77(2):351-61.
- 111. Fukasawa M, Girgis W, diZerega GS. Inhibition of postsurgical adhesions in a standardized rabbit model: II. Intraperitoneal treatment with heparin. Int J Fertil. 1991 Sep-Oct;36(5):296-301.
- 112. Hill-West JL, Dunn RC, Hubbell JA. Local release of fibrinolytic agents for adhesion prevention. J Surg Res. 1995 Dec;59(6):759-63.
- 113. Thompson JN, Paterson-Brown S, Harbourne T, Whawell SA, Kalodiki E, Dudley HA. Reduced human peritoneal plasminogen

activating activity: possible mechanism of adhesion formation. Br J Surg. 1989 Apr;76(4):382-4.

- Reed KL, Stucchi AF, Becker JM. Pharmacologic inhibition of adhesion formation and peritoneal tissue-type plasminogen activator activity. Semin Reprod Med. 2008 Jul;26(4):331-40.
- 115. Evans DM, McAree K, Guyton DP, Hawkins N, Stakleff K. Dose dependency and wound healing aspects of the use of tissue plasminogen activator in the prevention of intra-abdominal adhesions. Am J Surg. 1993 Feb;165(2):229-32.
- 116. Chowdhury SM, Hubbell JA. Adhesion prevention with ancrod released via a tissue-adherent hydrogel. J Surg Res. 1996 Feb 15;61(1):58-64.
- 117. Cubukcu A, Alponat A, Gonullu NN, Ozkan S, Ercin C. An experimental study evaluating the effect of Mitomycin C on the prevention of postoperative intraabdominal adhesions. J Surg Res. 2001 Apr;96(2):163-6.
- Cubukcu A, Alponat A, Gonullu NN. Mitomycin-C prevents reformation of intra-abdominal adhesions after adhesiolysis. Surgery. 2002 Jan;131(1):81-4.
- 119. Jackson JK, Skinner KC, Burgess L, Sun T, Hunter WL, Burt HM. Paclitaxel-loaded crosslinked hyaluronic acid films for the prevention of postsurgical adhesions. Pharm Res. 2002 Apr;19(4):411-7.
- 120. Petrilli J, Wadsworth S, Cooper K, Rodgers KE, Siekierka J, diZerega GS. Tranilast: a pharmaceutical candidate for reduction of adhesions using a novel approach. Semin Reprod Med. 2008 Jul;26(4):341-8.
- 121. Heydrick SJ, Reed KL, Cohen PA, Aarons CB, Gower AC, Becker JM, et al. Intraperitoneal administration of methylene blue attenuates oxidative stress, increases peritoneal fibrinolysis, and inhibits intraabdominal adhesion formation. J Surg Res. 2007 Dec;143(2):311-9.
- 122. Sparnon AL, Spitz L. Pharmacological manipulation of postoperative intestinal adhesions. Aust N Z J Surg. 1989 Sep;59(9):725-9.
- 123. Tarhan OR, Barut I, Sezik M. An evaluation of normal saline and taurolidine on intra-abdominal adhesion formation and peritoneal fibrinolysis. J Surg Res. 2008 Jan;144(1):151-7.

- 124. Bahadir I, Oncel M, Kement M, Sahip Y. Intra-abdominal use of taurolidine or heparin as alternative products to an antiadhesive barrier (Seprafilm) in adhesion prevention: an experimental study on mice. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007 Dec;50(12):2209-14.
- Sehgal SN, Camardo JS, Scarola JA, Maida BT. Rapamycin (sirolimus, rapamune). Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 1995 Nov;4(6):482-7.
- 126. Lai JH, Tan TH. CD28 signaling causes a sustained down-regulation of I kappa B alpha which can be prevented by the immunosuppressant rapamycin. J Biol Chem. 1994 Dec 2;269(48):30077-80.
- Beretta L, Gingras AC, Svitkin YV, Hall MN, Sonenberg N. Rapamycin blocks the phosphorylation of 4E-BP1 and inhibits capdependent initiation of translation. EMBO J. 1996 Feb 1;15(3):658-64.
- 128. Alvarado Y, Mita MM, Vemulapalli S, Mahalingam D, Mita AC. Clinical activity of mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors in solid tumors. Target Oncol. 2011 May 4.
- 129. Kwitkowski VE, Prowell TM, Ibrahim A, Farrell AT, Justice R, Mitchell SS, et al. FDA approval summary: temsirolimus as treatment for advanced renal cell carcinoma. Oncologist. 2010;15(4):428-35.
- Hess G, Herbrecht R, Romaguera J, Verhoef G, Crump M, Gisselbrecht C, et al. Phase III study to evaluate temsirolimus compared with investigator's choice therapy for the treatment of relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009 Aug 10;27(23):3822-9.
- 131. Franz DN, Leonard J, Tudor C, Chuck G, Care M, Sethuraman G, et al. Rapamycin causes regression of astrocytomas in tuberous sclerosis complex. Ann Neurol. 2006 Mar;59(3):490-8.
- 132. Gregory CR, Huie P, Shorthouse R, Wang J, Rowan R, Billingham ME, et al. Treatment with rapamycin blocks arterial intimal thickening following mechanical and alloimmune injury. Transplant Proc. 1993 Feb;25(1 Pt 1):120-1.
- Laschke MW, Haufel JM, Roller J, Schorr H, Menger MD. Rapamycin, but not cyclosporine A, inhibits vascularization and incorporation of implanted surgical meshes. Transpl Int. 2009 Jun;22(6):654-62.

- 134. Toso C, Meeberg GA, Bigam DL, Oberholzer J, Shapiro AM, Gutfreund K, et al. De novo sirolimus-based immunosuppression after liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: long-term outcomes and side effects. Transplantation. 2007 May 15;83(9):1162-8.
- 135. Knight RJ, Villa M, Laskey R, Benavides C, Schoenberg L, Welsh M, et al. Risk factors for impaired wound healing in sirolimus-treated renal transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2007 Jul-Aug;21(4):460-5.
- Akselband Y, Harding MW, Nelson PA. Rapamycin inhibits spontaneous and fibroblast growth factor beta-stimulated proliferation of endothelial cells and fibroblasts. Transplant Proc. 1991 Dec;23(6):2833-6.
- 137. Sousa JE, Costa MA, Abizaid A, Abizaid AS, Feres F, Pinto IM, et al. Lack of neointimal proliferation after implantation of sirolimus-coated stents in human coronary arteries: a quantitative coronary angiography and three-dimensional intravascular ultrasound study. Circulation. 2001 Jan 16;103(2):192-5.
- 138. Biecker E, De Gottardi A, Neef M, Unternahrer M, Schneider V, Ledermann M, et al. Long-term treatment of bile duct-ligated rats with rapamycin (sirolimus) significantly attenuates liver fibrosis: analysis of the underlying mechanisms. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2005 Jun;313(3):952-61.
- 139. Damiao MJ, Bertocchi AP, Monteiro RM, Goncalves GM, Cenedeze MA, Feitoza CQ, et al. The effects of rapamycin in the progression of renal fibrosis. Transplant Proc. 2007 Mar;39(2):457-9.
- 140. Branch MP, Hebda, P.A., Dohar, J.E. Topical Sirolimus for Prevention of Subglottic Stenosis in a Rabbit Model. Otolaryngology -Head and Neck Surgery. 2004;131(2):270.
- 141. Korfhagen TR, Le Cras TD, Davidson CR, Schmidt SM, Ikegami M, Whitsett JA, et al. Rapamycin prevents transforming growth factoralpha-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2009 Nov;41(5):562-72.
- 142. Chong T, Fu DL, Li HC, Zhang HB, Zhang P, Gan WM, et al. Rapamycin inhibits formation of urethral stricture in rabbits. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2011 Apr 4.
- 143. Kanko M, Ozbudak E, Ozerdem A, Aksoy A, Kilic M, Berki KT. Effect of sirolimus in the prevention of adhesions around intraabdominal prosthetic graft. World J Surg. 2006 Sep;30(9):1648-52.

- 144. Gomel V, Urman B, Gurgan T. Pathophysiology of adhesion formation and strategies for prevention. J Reprod Med. 1996 Jan;41(1):35-41.
- 145. Elkins TE, Stovall TG, Warren J, Ling FW, Meyer NL. A histologic evaluation of peritoneal injury and repair: implications for adhesion formation. Obstet Gynecol. 1987 Aug;70(2):225-8.
- 146. Filmar S, Jetha N, McComb P, Gomel V. A comparative histologic study on the healing process after tissue transection. II. Carbon dioxide laser and surgical microscissors. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1989 May;160(5 Pt 1):1068-72.
- 147. Filmar S, Jetha N, McComb P, Gomel V. A comparative histologic study on the healing process after tissue transection. I. Carbon dioxide laser and electromicrosurgery. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1989 May;160(5 Pt 1):1062-7.
- 148. Gardner LU. The Similarity of the Lesions Produced by Silica and by the Tubercle Bacillus. Am J Pathol. 1937 Jan;13(1):13-24 3.
- 149. Aarons J, Fitzgerald N. The persisting hazards of surgical glove powder. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1974 Mar;138(3):385-90.
- 150. Ellis H. The hazards of surgical glove dusting powders. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1990 Dec;171(6):521-7.
- Weibel MA, Majno G. Peritoneal adhesions and their relation to abdominal surgery. A postmortem study. Am J Surg. 1973 Sep;126(3):345-53.
- 152. Holtz G. Adhesion induction by suture of varying tissue reactivity and caliber. Int J Fertil. 1982;27(3):134-5.
- 153. Neff MR, Holtz GL, Betsill WL, Jr. Adhesion formation and histologic reaction with polydioxanone and polyglactin suture. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985 Jan 1;151(1):20-3.
- 154. Hoffmann NE, Siddiqui SA, Agarwal S, McKellar SH, Kurtz HJ, Gettman MT, et al. Choice of hemostatic agent influences adhesion formation in a rat cecal adhesion model. J Surg Res. 2009 Jul;155(1):77-81.
- 155. Kothari SN, Fundell LJ, Lambert PJ, Mathiason MA. Use of transabdominal ultrasound to identify intraabdominal adhesions prior to laparoscopy: a prospective blinded study. Am J Surg. 2006 Dec;192(6):843-7.

- 156. Kavic SM. Adhesions and adhesiolysis: the role of laparoscopy. JSLS. 2002 Apr-Jun;6(2):99-109.
- 157. Brokelman W, Holmdahl L, Falk P, Klinkenbijl J, Reijnen M. The peritoneal fibrinolytic response to conventional and laparoscopic colonic surgery. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2009 Aug;19(4):489-93.
- 158. Brokelman WJ, Holmdahl L, Bergstrom M, Falk P, Klinkenbijl JH, Reijnen MM. Peritoneal fibrinolytic response to various aspects of laparoscopic surgery: a randomized trial. J Surg Res. 2006 Dec;136(2):309-13.
- 159. Brokelman WJ, Holmdahl L, Bergstrom M, Falk P, Klinkenbijl JH, Reijnen MM. Heating of carbon dioxide during insufflation alters the peritoneal fibrinolytic response to laparoscopic surgery : A clinical trial. Surg Endosc. 2008 May;22(5):1232-6.
- 160. Ellis H, Heddle R. Does the peritoneum need to be closed at laparotomy? Br J Surg. 1977 Oct;64(10):733-6.

Chapter 2

Sirolimus drug-eluting, hydrogel-impregnated polypropylene mesh reduces intra-abdominal adhesion formation in a mouse model

A version of this chapter was published in the journal *SURGERY*. 2011, Nov;150(5):907-15.
Abstract

Background: Prosthetic mesh is frequently employed in abdominal wall hernia reconstruction, but is prone to postoperative adhesion formation. Complications resulting from intra-abdominal adhesions represent a considerable clinical and cost burden. We herein investigate the antiproliferative and antiadhesiogenic properties of sirolimus and hydrogelimpregnated drug-eluting mesh to reduce such complications in a mouse model of abdominal wall hernia repair.

Methods: A 1x1cm² polypropylene mesh from one of three groups (plain control, hydrogel (2% agarose), or hydrogel + 10 mcg sirolimus) was surgically implanted into the peritoneal cavity of BALB/c mice, and followed for up to 4 weeks, with adhesions scored by percent surface area of mesh (0-100%), severity (0-3) and tenacity (0-4). Representative samples were assessed by scanning electron microscopy.

Results: The combination of hydrogel and sirolimus-impregnated-mesh led to significant reduction in adhesion formation. The percent surface area of adhesional attachment to mesh was reduced from $100.0 \pm 0\%$ in the plain mesh control group versus $17.5 \pm 8.4\%$, (p<0.001) in the combined impregnated mesh group. Similarly, adhesion severity scores were reduced from a score of 2.9 ± 0.1 (plain mesh) versus 1.4 ± 0.1 (sirolimus/hydrogel mesh) (p<0.001). Scores for tenacity were also markedly reduced from 3.5 ± 0.2 (plain mesh) versus 1.5 ± 0.1

(sirolimus/hydrogel impregnated mesh, (p<0.001).

Conclusions: Creation of a sirolimus drug-eluting and hydrogel impregnated polypropylene mesh resulted in marked reduction of adhesion formation in this mouse model, was well tolerated without side effects, and has potential for clinical application.

Introduction

Intra-abdominal adhesions are a challenging problem for surgeons and their patients, developing as sequelae of tissue trauma following surgery. They are despairingly common, and a near certainty on re-operation: in a prospective analysis of 210 patients undergoing a laparotomy with one or more previous abdominal operations, 93% had adhesions, compared with 10.4% in first-time laparotomy patients (1). In a survey of UK surgeons, adhesions and their sequelae represent a large portion of the general surgical workload, though treatment and prevention practice varies widely (2). Adhesions are known to cause a range of serious complications including small bowel obstruction, chronic pain, and female infertility, increasing the risk of enterotomy and bleeding on re-operation (3-7). This resulted in an estimated \$1.3 billion/year additional cost burden attributed to adhesions in the U.S. alone (5).

The repair of abdominal wall hernias may be accomplished by a variety of options, including open primary suture repair, open prosthetic mesh repair, and laparoscopic repair with intraperitoneal placement of prosthetic mesh. Primary suture repair carries a high rate of recurrence (8), prompting most surgeons to consider and choose a repair using mesh. The most common prosthetic meshes are knitted (with spaces or pores), synthesized from polypropylene or polyethylene, and share the potential for causing

intestinal complications via bowel loops adhering to mesh, a consequence which carries risk of fistula formation. Smooth-surfaced and impermeable materials such as silicone are resistant to adhesion formation; however, these materials may lack sufficient fixation to adjacent tissues to provide strength and support to the repair.

Multiple approaches have been taken pre-clinically and clinically in an attempt to reduce the incidence and severity of adhesions, and have recently been the subject of two Cochrane reviews (9-10). There are three main approaches to preventing postoperative adhesion formation: 1) provide a barrier between peritoneum and viscera or two visceral surfaces, 2) deliver a pharmacological intervention along the hypothesized pathway to mature adhesions; or 3) combine both, as accomplished in our current approach - a drug-eluting mesh.

Hydrogels are natural or synthetic compounds made of hydrophilic polymer chains. Recently there has been interest in their potential use as a barrier to adhesion formation (11-12). Their high water content, flexibility and effectiveness as a sustained-release drug delivery system make them ideal for development as an adhesion prophylaxis device. There has been very limited evaluation combining hernia repair mesh with a hydrogel, but results have been promising in a small study in rats (13).

Sirolimus is a macrolide group antibiotic with immunosuppressive and antiproliferative properties (14). It has become known for its use in decreasing the rate of restenosis in coronary artery stents (15) and it has also been employed in novel treatment of conditions such as choroidal neovascularisation and renal cell carcinoma (16-17). The aim of this study was to investigate the impact of a SRL drug-eluting, hydrogel impregnated polypropylene mesh in reducing adhesions to surrounding intestines. Local delivery of sirolimus has been examined previously in the context of adhesions to abdominal prosthetic vascular grafts in a rat model (18), however, its use in conjunction with an adhesiogenic hernia repair mesh is novel. Hydrogels have been used previously for intraperitoneal delivery of microencapsulated insulin-producing cells as a physiological barrier in clinical studies (19, 20) and have also been found to be effective in form of hyaluronic acid (Seprafilm[™]) to reduce adhesions in clinical studies, but direct impregnation of polypropylene mesh with agarose hydrogel has not been reported previously. We herein explore the potential of combined sirolimus drug-eluting and hydrogel impregnated mesh as a means to reduce postoperative adhesion incidence, severity and tenacity.

Methods

Animals and Reagents

Male BALB/c mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbour, ME) and housed under conventional conditions (standard lab chow and water *ad libitum*, 12-hour light-dark cycle in a temperature- and humidity-controlled environment). All animals were cared for according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and ethical approval was obtained from the animal welfare committee at the University of Alberta. All reagents including sirolimus (SRL) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, Ontario, Canada) unless otherwise specified.

Mesh materials

Plain monofilament polypropylene mesh was obtained (ETHICON, Somerville, NJ), and three experimental groups were generated – i. plain mesh (control), ii. mesh + 2% agarose hydrogel (control for effect of hydrogel alone), and iii. mesh + SRL + hydrogel (SRL drug-eluting treatment group). In all groups, the mesh implants were cut into 1 cm² squares. SRL was solubilised in 95% alcohol (1mg SRL dissolved in 1cc), and diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) to a concentration of 10

mcg of SRL per mesh (100 μ L of 2% agarose + 10mcg SRL). The dose of 10mcg was approximately twice the suggested daily intraperitoneal dose equivalent to a clinically relevant (immunosuppressive) exposure, 0.2mg/kg/d ip injection, as determined by previous work in our islet transplantation laboratory (19). The solution was injected in a warmed, viscous form onto a petri dish in 100 μ L aliquots and a mesh square was placed onto each droplet. The solution was then distributed gently to all edges of the mesh with forceps, fully impregnating the mesh in the gel which became solid when cooled to room temperature. Mesh were sealed in petri dishes and refrigerated >24h before use to facilitate solidification of the hydrogel. The light-sensitive nature of SRL was respected throughout.

Surgical Technique

The abdomen was shaved and the mouse was then anaesthetized and maintained in surgical plane using 1% isoflurane. Procedures were done under aseptic conditions. No prophylactic antibiotics were given. Mice were randomly assigned to each group.

A midline laparotomy was performed to expose the viscera. Surfaces of the abdominal contents were swabbed once with a cotton-tip to mimic conditions of routine surgical trauma and tissue handling. Pilot studies demonstrated that this enhanced the adhesiogenicity of the model. It was also found that there was a propensity of the epididymal fat pads to prevent adhesion of intestinal loops to the mesh, and as such, all mice underwent lipectomy using a 2-0 vicryl suture (ETHICON, Somerville, NJ). The mesh square was placed directly over the abdominal contents in the midline, below both costal margins, and then each corner was sutured to the overlying parietal peritoneum and muscle using 4-0 PDS suture (ETHICON, Somerville, NJ). The peritoneum and muscle was then brought together over the mesh and reapproximated with a running 2-0 vicryl suture. No defect in the abdominal wall was created in this process, and thus our model investigates the adhesiogenic and lytic properties of treated polypropylene mesh, and does not specifically investigate the impact of mesh pretreatment upon strength of mesh incorporation and repair. The subcutaneous tissue and skin was clipped together using surgical clips.

Assessment of Systemic Sirolimus Levels

A separate cohort of mice (n=20) underwent implantation of SRLcontaining hydrogel mesh, and were euthanized at 1, 2, 3 and 4 week time points. An intracardiac blood sample was withdrawn and analyzed for serum SRL levels to detect systemic absorption of SRL.

Assessment of Adhesions: Necropsy studies

The animals in the time course study (n=5 at each week) received plain polypropylene mesh and were evaluated at necropsy at 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 weeks; this established the relevant time point for assessment of the study groups. Hence, all animals in the study groups (plain n=5, agarose n=13, agarose + SRL n=12) were euthanized and underwent necropsy at the 4 week time point.

At necropsy, the abdomen was opened in a C-shaped window around the mesh prosthesis and gently elevated for visualization and scoring. Adhesions were assessed quantitatively and qualitatively by two blinded observers (M.M. and R.E.) who had not participated in the surgery, and were unaware of the assigned treatment group. Adhesions were scored using a scale modified from those previously published by Linsky(20) and the Surgical Membrane Study Group(21), according to the following parameters: percentage of mesh covered by adhesions, severity, and tenacity **(Table 2-1)**. Scores given by each observer were analyzed as independent observations.

Assessment of Adhesions: Scanning Electron Microscopy

Representative specimens (n=4 per group) were obtained by necropsy at 2 and 4 weeks. Adherent viscera were separated from the mesh with

blunt and sharp dissection. Specimens were prepared for scanning electron microscopy by fixation in 2.5% glutaraldehyde solution, and stored at 4°C until processing. The samples were post-fixed in 1 % osmium tetroxide in Milonig's buffer, pH 7.2 at room temperature for 1.5 hours. They were then dehydrated in ethanol. The samples were further dried by critical point drying at 31°C for 5 – 10 minutes, then mounted on a stub and were sputter coated with gold (Edwards model S150B Sputter Coater). Samples were examined using a Hitachi SEM S-2500.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism (Version 5.0b, GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Graphical representation of data is represented as mean \pm SEM, unless otherwise mentioned. Means of % surface area were compared using Bartlett's test, ANOVA and *post hoc* Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison Tests. Means of ordinal data were compared using Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by *post hoc* Dunn's tests.

Results

All animals tolerated the surgical procedure well and gained weight appropriately following surgery according to growth curves for age. Of all mice that underwent surgical placement of mesh, including pilot study data, there were no wound dehiscences, no issues with local wound healing of the skin, and no significant differences in infection rate (necrosis or purulent discharge) noted on necropsy: incidence was 0% among animals with plain mesh (n=30), 5.7% in those with agarose mesh (n=35), and 8.0% in animals with agarose + SRL (n=50). Mortality from all causes was 6.7%, 8.5% and 8.0% in the plain, agarose and agarose+SRL groups respectively, with no significant differences among these experimental groups. At necropsy, all animals demonstrated incorporation and adhesion formation at the edges of the mesh. In one case we encountered a complete adhesive small bowel obstruction at necropsy (Figure 2-1). This edge value was not included in calculation of surface area coverage.

Serial Systemic Sirolimus Levels

All animals sacrificed for serum SRL levels at weeks 1, 2, 3 and 4 had undetectable levels at their respective time point (<1.0 micrograms/L). This signified that there was no detectable systemic absorption of SRL when applied locally to the mesh beyond the first week, and a lack of systemic toxicity.

Macroscopic Observation of Adhesions: Time Course

Representative macroscopic images of mesh samples are shown in **Figure 2-2A-C**. Percent surface area of plain polypropylene mesh covered by adhesions was marked and consistent early in the postoperative course (91.5 \pm 4.8 % at week 1), and remained constant through time to the 6-month point (98.0 \pm 2.0 % at week 24), with no significant difference among groups (**Figure 2-3A**). Mesh severity scores (**Figure 2-3B**) and tenacity scores (**Figure 2-3C**) were similarly high and consistent over the time points of interest. Severity of adhesions differed significantly between weeks 1 and 4, and between 1 and 24 (p<0.05 and p<0.01 respectively), and tenacity scores differed significantly only between weeks 1 and 4 (p<0.05). The 4-week scores were therefore chosen as the end point for subsequent studies.

Macroscopic Observation of Adhesions by Group: Plain, Hydrogel, Hydrogel + SRL

The combination of SRL drug-elution and hydrogel was found to be the most potent inhibitor of adhesion formation. Comparing measured surface area (**Figure 2-4A**), there was a significant difference between all groups: plain mesh had significantly more surface area covered with adhesions than mesh treated with hydrogel or SRL + hydrogel (100.0 \pm 0% (plain mesh) vs. 47.2 \pm 10.6% (hydrogel), p<0.01, vs. 17.5 \pm 8.4% (SRL + hydrogel), p<0.05. Severity scores (**Figure 2-4B**) were also significantly lower in the treated groups (2.9 \pm 0.1 (plain mesh) vs. 1.8 \pm 0.2 (hydrogel), p<0.001. Tenacity scores (**Figure 2-4C**) were also substantially reduced in the treatment groups, 3.5 \pm 0.2 (plain mesh) vs. 1.8 \pm 0.2 (hydrogel), (p<0.001), vs. 1.5 \pm 0.1 (SRL + hydrogel), p<0.001), vs. 1.5 \pm 0.1 (SRL + hydrogel), p<0.001), vs. 1.5 \pm 0.1 (SRL + hydrogel), p<0.001).

Scanning Electron Microscopy

Images of the plain mesh (**Figure 2-5A**) and mesh treated with hydrogel (**Figure 2-5B**) reveal the ultrastructural architecture. Of the representative sections of mice undergoing scanning EM evaluation, we found evidence of mesh incorporation in all cases (16 tissue blocks), with trans-growth of fibroblasts and collagen throughout. Macroscopically, the hydrogel coats the surface of and spaces between the polypropylene fibres, rendering it

smooth and filling the interstices; rough areas as seen in Figure 5B likely reflect artifact caused by the desiccation process. When implanted in the abdominal wall and examined at 2 and 4 week end points, all mesh from all groups were covered by proliferations of cells, with no exposed polypropylene. Fibroblasts were more numerous in the untreated mesh at 2 and 4 weeks (**Figures 2-6A and B**), with populations of fibroblasts and mesothelial cells seen in all groups.

Discussion

In the current study, we have demonstrated a potent protective effect of a sirolimus drug-eluting, hydrogel-impregnated polypropylene mesh in reducing adhesion formation to viscera, in a mouse model. The model was intensely adhesiogenic, with all animals receiving untreated mesh developing a demonstrable reaction to the abdominal wall implantation of the mesh within one week of surgery. These adhesions remained stable through a 6-month period, and it is likely that observations at this late time point represent permanent, mature adhesions. We found a significant decrease in adhesion surface area, severity and tenacity with the maximal impact observed when SRL was combined with hydrogel.

Prosthetic mesh used in hernia repair surgery must provide sufficient scaffolding for tissue ingrowth on the parietal side and edges. However, a casualty of this desired characteristic is the proximity of nearby visceral organs, as postoperative adhesions connect these tissues to the mesh surface, risking complications such as fistula formation. Relaparotomy in the setting of postsurgical adhesions puts patients at increased risk of complications such as enterotomy and hemorrhage (4).

Changing porosity of the mesh by coating with a hydrogel may have prevented fibroblast ingrowth and tissue integration. It has been

established that the structure and porosity of the mesh play a fundamental role in adhesion formation, consistency, and in the organization of the neoperitoneum formed between the prosthetic and the visceral peritoneum (22). It has been well-established that peritoneal mesothelial cells prevent adhesions (23-24), and it appears as though the hydrogel coating permits early and swift migration of these cells, covering the surface in sheets by 2 weeks' time.

Agarose hydrogel offers a barrier to adhesion formation and serves as an effective vehicle for SRL drug elution. It is an inert, bio-compatible hydrogel with significant potential for use as a barrier against adhesions especially immediately adjacent to bowel or an adhesiogenic substance/implant. We anticipate that unlike hyaluronic acid preparations (25), agarose hydrogel may be less likely to interfere with the process of wound healing. Hyaluronan is known to bind to cell surface receptors and participate in the signaling of a variety of physiologic processes (26). Pure agarose by comparison is commonly used for electrophoresis of proteins and nucleic acids, and does not interact with those substrates. The recent work by Engelsman et al. implanting different surgical meshes in mice showed that multifilament and hydrophobic meshes were associated with high infection rates (27). Coating a monofilament mesh with a hydrophilic hydrogel, as in our model, may potentially improve this outcome.

Recently there has been an increased appreciation for the role of immune cells in the process of normal peritoneal healing and the pathogenesis of adhesions (28-30). Early events in adhesiogenesis include recruitment and interactions of these cell types, and their signaling via cytokine/chemokine release may be an important place for intervention. SRL is a small, lipophilic molecule that forms a complex with the immunophilin FK506 binding protein-12, which subsequently inhibits the regulatory kinase mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (31). This protein kinase regulates cell growth and metabolism in response to changes in the cell environment. SRL may work to reduce adhesions via several mechanisms as it has anti-inflammatory, antifibrotic, antiproliferative, and antiangiogenic properties. In their 2009 study, Laschke et al. (32) reported that administration of systemic SRL in hamsters with an implanted surgical mesh resulted in inhibition of angiogenesis, reduction of collagen deposition, and an overall impairment of incorporation of the mesh when compared with cyclosporine-treated and control animals. Systemic SRL has been shown to contribute to the formation of incisional hernias after liver transplantation, a consequence of this impaired wound healing (33). Interestingly, it is our current clinical practice to convert patients from sirolimus and replace with tacrolimus and cellcept for a period of time before and after incisional hernia repair in the setting of liver transplantation. We anticipate that the small, single, local dose of SRL used in the present study would have minimal impact on

wound healing, but we acknowledge that the present study does not formally evaluate wound and hernia repair strength.

Local delivery of SRL to reduce adhesion formation appears to be a worthwhile endeavour given the undesirable side effects of systemic treatment with mTOR inhibitors, such as severe infection, pneumonitis, and renal function deterioration (34). In our model, we found no significant difference in infection rates between the groups at the single SRL drug doses administered, which was approximately twice the suggested daily intraperitoneal dose equivalent to a clinically relevant

(immunosuppressive) exposure, 0.2mg/kg/d ip injection, as determined by previous work (19). As the SRL was solubilised before incorporation into the hydrogel, we assume the drug is eluted locally over time, but this has not been measured directly in the present study. There is potential to increase the amount of drug applied to this mesh as we found no evidence of systemic sirolimus absorption as early as 1 week, and further study of elution pharmacokinetics is required to optimize drug delivery. Scanning electron microscopy images suggest mesh incorporation in all cases, with trans-growth of fibroblasts and collagen throughout. We believe this provides surrogate data to suggest that the presence of hydrogel or sirolimus elution does not completely prevent wound healing. If this approach is developed further for clinical study, it might be advantageous to treat only the peritoneal surface of the polypropylene mesh, and spare

the side that is in direct contact with parietal peritoneum, abdominal wall musculature and fascia, to further facilitate incorporation and healing.

Our model suggests that adhesions present and persistent by day 7 are likely to be durable over time, and this had been confirmed by others (35-38). It is possible that the agent used to prevent recruitment of fibroblasts and other cellular players of the initial adhesiogenic pathway, whether a pharmacologic or mechanical barrier, may be most important in this early window. A caveat is that we cannot determine in this mouse model whether the intervention with hydrogel and/or SRL will weaken the effectiveness of the hernia repair over time. This effect while important was not formally assessed in the current study.

In summary, the creation of a SRL drug-eluting hydrogel-impregnated polypropylene mesh substantially reduced intestinal adhesion formation to mesh in a mouse model of abdominal wall hernia repair. This combination of pharmacological and physical barrier was safe, effective and offers promise as an alternative approach to reduce postoperative adhesions. Local delivery of SRL was well tolerated, in the absence of systemic absorption or lethal immunosuppressive side effects, and warrants further consideration in future clinical trials.

Table 2-1. Adhesion score.

ADHESION PERCENTAGE	Percentage of mesh involvement in mm ²
ADHESION SEVERITY	 0 = No adhesion 1 = Filmy and avascular 2 = Moderately filmy and vascular 3 = Dense and significantly vascular
ADHESION TENACITY	 0 = no adhesion 1 = no resistance to separation, easy to separate 2 = moderate force required for separation, blunt dissection 3 = sharp dissection required for separation, cannot separate without damaging serosa 4 = adhesions in a conglomerate with the intraperitoneal organs, impossible to divide and count

Figure 2-1. Necropsy photo: intestinal obstruction with adhesive loop of intestine to edge of mesh in one case (hydrogel control group).



Figure 2- 2A. Macroscopic image of selected representative mesh specimen at 4 week necropsy. Plain mesh became completely covered with adhered abdominal viscera, obscuring mesh.



Figure 2-2B. Macroscopic image of selected representative mesh specimen at 4 week necropsy: notable central sparing of mesh in the hydrogel group.



Figure 2-2C. Macroscopic image of selected representative mesh specimen at 4 week necropsy: notable central sparing of mesh in the hydrogel + SRL group, further reduction in adhesion incidence.



Figure 2-3A. Time-course study of the model using plain polypropylene mesh: Percentage of mesh surface area covered by adhesions, assessed at necropsy at sequential time points (n=5 weeks 2-12, n=4 weeks 1, 24).



Figure 2-3B. Time-course study of the model using plain polypropylene mesh: Severity score of adhesions, assessed at necropsy at sequential time points (n=5 for all groups with exception of n=4, weeks 1 and 24). *p<0.05, *p<0.01.



Figure 2-3C. Time-course study of the model using plain polypropylene mesh: Tenacity score of adhesions, assessed at necropsy at sequential time points (n=5 for all groups with exception of n=4, weeks 1 and 24). *p<0.05.



Figure 2-4A. Percentage of mesh surface area covered by adhesions, by group, at 4-week necropsy (n=number of observations). *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ***p<0.001.



Figure 2-4B. Severity scores of adhesions, by group, at 4-week necropsy (n=number of observations). **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.



Figure 2-4C. Tenacity scores of adhesions, by group, at 4-week necropsy (n=number of observations). ***p<0.001.



Figure 2-5. Scanning electron microscopy of mesh before implantation, plain polypropylene (A) and after treatment with agarose hydrogel (B). Porosity of the mesh is decreased (original magnification X 25).





Figure 2-6(A-D). Scanning electron microscopy of viscera-facing surface of representative polypropylene mesh samples; shown are 2 weeks plain (A), 4 weeks plain (B), 2 weeks SRL+hydrogel (C), 4 weeks SRL+hydrogel (D) (original magnification X 500). Fibroblasts are circled; peritoneal mesothelial cells are round regular cells with microvilli. Fewer fibroblasts and more mesothelial cells are noted in the mesh treated with SRL-eluting hydrogel.



60µm

References

- 1. Menzies D, Ellis H. Intestinal obstruction from adhesions--how big is the problem? Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1990 Jan;72(1):60-3.
- 2. Scott-Coombes DM, Vipond MN, Thompson JN. General surgeons' attitudes to the treatment and prevention of abdominal adhesions. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1993 Mar;75(2):123-8.
- 3. Ellis H. The clinical significance of adhesions: focus on intestinal obstruction. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997(577):5-9.
- 4. Van Der Krabben AA, Dijkstra FR, Nieuwenhuijzen M, Reijnen MM, Schaapveld M, Van Goor H. Morbidity and mortality of inadvertent enterotomy during adhesiotomy. Br J Surg. 2000 Apr;87(4):467-71.
- 5. Ray NF, Denton WG, Thamer M, Henderson SC, Perry S. Abdominal adhesiolysis: inpatient care and expenditures in the United States in 1994. J Am Coll Surg. 1998 Jan;186(1):1-9.
- 6. Demco L. Pain mapping of adhesions. J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc. 2004 May;11(2):181-3.
- 7. Demco LA. Pain referral patterns in the pelvis. J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc. 2000 May;7(2):181-3.
- Burger JW, Luijendijk RW, Hop WC, Halm JA, Verdaasdonk EG, Jeekel J. Long-term follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of suture versus mesh repair of incisional hernia. Ann Surg. 2004 Oct;240(4):578-83; discussion 83-5.
- 9. Ahmad G, Duffy JM, Farquhar C, Vail A, Vandekerckhove P, Watson A, et al. Barrier agents for adhesion prevention after gynaecological surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008(2):CD000475.
- Kumar S, Wong PF, Leaper DJ. Intra-peritoneal prophylactic agents for preventing adhesions and adhesive intestinal obstruction after non-gynaecological abdominal surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009(1):CD005080.
- Falabella CA, Melendez MM, Weng L, Chen W. Novel macromolecular crosslinking hydrogel to reduce intra-abdominal adhesions. J Surg Res. 2010 Apr;159(2):772-8.
- 12. Liu Y, Shu XZ, Prestwich GD. Reduced postoperative intra-

abdominal adhesions using Carbylan-SX, a semisynthetic glycosaminoglycan hydrogel. Fertil Steril. 2007 Apr;87(4):940-8.

- 13. Townsend KL, Race A, Keane M, Miller W, Dishaw L, Fisher ER, et al. A Novel Hydrogel-Coated Polyester Mesh Prevents Postsurgical Adhesions in a Rat Model. J Surg Res. 2009 Oct 2.
- Sehgal SN. Sirolimus: its discovery, biological properties, and mechanism of action. Transplant Proc. 2003 May;35(3 Suppl):7S-14S.
- Sousa JE, Costa MA, Abizaid A, Abizaid AS, Feres F, Pinto IM, et al. Lack of neointimal proliferation after implantation of sirolimus-coated stents in human coronary arteries: a quantitative coronary angiography and three-dimensional intravascular ultrasound study. Circulation. 2001 Jan 16;103(2):192-5.
- Nussenblatt RB, Byrnes G, Nida H, Yeh S, Faia L, Meyerle C, et al. A Randomized Pilot Study of Systemic Immunosuppression in the Treatment of Age-Related Macular Degeneration with Choroidal Neovascularization. Retina. 2010 Sep 15.
- Brugarolas J, Lotan Y, Watumull L, Kabbani W. Sirolimus in metatastic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008 Jul 10;26(20):3457-60.
- 18. Kanko M, Ozbudak E, Ozerdem A, Aksoy A, Kilic M, Berki KT. Effect of sirolimus in the prevention of adhesions around intraabdominal prosthetic graft. World J Surg. 2006 Sep;30(9):1648-52.
- Merani S, Truong W, Emamaullee JA, Toso C, Knudsen LB, Shapiro AM. Liraglutide, a long-acting human glucagon-like peptide 1 analog, improves glucose homeostasis in marginal mass islet transplantation in mice. Endocrinology. 2008 Sep;149(9):4322-8.
- Linsky CB, Diamond MP, Cunningham T, Constantine B, DeCherney AH, diZerega GS. Adhesion reduction in the rabbit uterine horn model using an absorbable barrier, TC-7. J Reprod Med. 1987 Jan;32(1):17-20.
- 21. Prophylaxis of pelvic sidewall adhesions with Gore-Tex surgical membrane: a multicenter clinical investigation. The Surgical Membrane Study Group. Fertil Steril. 1992 Apr;57(4):921-3.
- Bellon JM, Garcia-Carranza A, Jurado F, Garcia-Honduvilla N, Carrera-San Martin A, Bujan J. Peritoneal regeneration after implant of a composite prosthesis in the abdominal wall. World J Surg. 2001 Feb;25(2):147-52.

- 23. Whitaker D, Papadimitriou JM, Walters M. The mesothelium: its fibrinolytic properties. J Pathol. 1982 Apr;136(4):291-9.
- van Hinsbergh VW, Kooistra T, Scheffer MA, Hajo van Bockel J, van Muijen GN. Characterization and fibrinolytic properties of human omental tissue mesothelial cells. Comparison with endothelial cells. Blood. 1990 Apr 1;75(7):1490-7.
- Price RD, Berry MG, Navsaria HA. Hyaluronic acid: the scientific and clinical evidence. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2007;60(10):1110-9.
- 26. Chen WY, Abatangelo G. Functions of hyaluronan in wound repair. Wound Repair Regen. 1999 Mar-Apr;7(2):79-89.
- 27. Engelsman AF, van Dam GM, van der Mei HC, Busscher HJ, Ploeg RJ. In vivo evaluation of bacterial infection involving morphologically different surgical meshes. Ann Surg. 2010 Jan;251(1):133-7.
- 28. Hoshino A, Kawamura YI, Yasuhara M, Toyama-Sorimachi N, Yamamoto K, Matsukawa A, et al. Inhibition of CCL1-CCR8 interaction prevents aggregation of macrophages and development of peritoneal adhesions. J Immunol. 2007 Apr 15;178(8):5296-304.
- 29. Ergul E, Korukluoglu B. Peritoneal adhesions: facing the enemy. Int J Surg. 2008 Jun;6(3):253-60.
- Binnebosel M, Rosch R, Junge K, Lynen-Jansen P, Schumpelick V, Klinge U. Macrophage and T-lymphocyte infiltrates in human peritoneal adhesions indicate a chronic inflammatory disease. World J Surg. 2008 Feb;32(2):296-304.
- Paghdal KV, Schwartz RA. Sirolimus (rapamycin): from the soil of Easter Island to a bright future. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2007 Dec;57(6):1046-50.
- Laschke MW, Haufel JM, Roller J, Schorr H, Menger MD. Rapamycin, but not cyclosporine A, inhibits vascularization and incorporation of implanted surgical meshes. Transpl Int. 2009 Jun;22(6):654-62.
- Toso C, Meeberg GA, Bigam DL, Oberholzer J, Shapiro AM, Gutfreund K, et al. De novo sirolimus-based immunosuppression after liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: long-term outcomes and side effects. Transplantation. 2007 May 15;83(9):1162-8.
- 34. Sanchez-Fructuoso AI, Ruiz JC, Perez-Flores I, Gomez Alamillo C,

Calvo Romero N, Arias M. Comparative analysis of adverse events requiring suspension of mTOR inhibitors: everolimus versus sirolimus. Transplant Proc. 2010 Oct;42(8):3050-2.

- Orita H, Fukasawa M, Girgis W, diZerega GS. Inhibition of postsurgical adhesions in a standardized rabbit model: intraperitoneal treatment with tissue plasminogen activator. Int J Fertil. 1991 May-Jun;36(3):172-7.
- 36. Dunn RC, Mohler M. Effect of varying days of tissue plasminogen activator therapy on the prevention of postsurgical adhesions in a rabbit model. J Surg Res. 1993 Mar;54(3):242-5.
- Harris ES, Morgan RF, Rodeheaver GT. Analysis of the kinetics of peritoneal adhesion formation in the rat and evaluation of potential antiadhesive agents. Surgery. 1995 Jun;117(6):663-9.
- Holmdahl L, Risberg B, Beck DE, Burns JW, Chegini N, diZerega GS, et al. Adhesions: pathogenesis and prevention-panel discussion and summary. Eur J Surg Suppl. 1997(577):56-62.
Conclusions and Future Directions

Postoperative intraperitoneal adhesions remain a vexing clinical problem. While it can be debated whether their formation represents a disordered form of peritoneal wound healing or a normal physiologic response to injury, the complications arising from their occurrence pose an enormous clinical and cost burden to patients. As more of the world's population gains access to surgical therapies, an unprecedented incidence of small bowel obstructions, female infertility, hemorrhage and enterotomy on relaparotomy, and adhesion-related chronic pain may be expected if there are not effective therapies to reduce or prevent adhesion formation. Given that adhesions are almost a certainty on reoperation, one might argue it is unacceptable that there has been comparatively very little investigation to date into finding targeted therapies, and efforts to bring these into clinical use.

Our interest in using sirolimus as both a pharmacologic and barrier method to reduce adhesion formation was based on two principles: firstly, on the unpublished observation that transplant recipients receiving rapamycin for immune suppression seem to have fewer adhesions on relaparotomy, and the mounting evidence that this drug has potent antifibrotic, anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative, and anti-angiogenic properties for which there may be a wider range of applications than it is currently used for.

A mouse model was developed to create a stable, reproducible adhesion formation response that could be quantified using published scoring systems. Plain polypropylene mesh is used in the setting of abdominal hernia repair, and incites extensive adhesion formation when placed in the peritoneal cavity and a surgical trauma is applied to the viscera in contact with it. Plain polypropylene mesh was chosen for this model to produce a robust adhesiogenic response but also to create a platform that facilitated quantification of the reductions achieved by the experimental agents. Preliminary time-course studies of this model using plain mesh suggested an ideal time for necropsy and adhesion score is 4 weeks, at which point adhesion incidence, severity and tenacity scores are more likely to be stable. This time point was also consistent with many other adhesion studies in animal models in the literature.

By applying the anti-adhesion substance or drug of interest directly to the mesh, a sensitive index of propensity for adhesion formation is created. Using hydrogel alone significantly decreased the incidence, severity, and tenacity of adhesions to the mesh after 4 weeks in this model, and addition of sirolimus to the hydrogel offered further significant reduction in adhesion incidence. Mesh in all specimens was incorporated into the contacting peritoneum on the free edges, but the two treated mesh groups (hydrogel and hydrogel + sirolimus) had significantly more surface area of

the mesh free of adhered viscera. The mesh intervention itself was well tolerated by the animals, there was no increased risk of infection, and there was no detectable level of sirolimus in serum as early as 1 week post operation. There were no differences in mortality from all causes between the groups.

Impregnation with agarose transformed the mesh from a textured, hydrophobic, macro-porous material into a smooth-surfaced, hydrophilic, micro-porous one. It has previously been established that these qualities play a fundamental role in adhesion formation, consistency, and in the organization of the neoperitoneum formed between the prosthetic and the visceral peritoneum. We would speculate the agarose provides a matrix for the drug of interest to elute from, and as the peritoneal fluid bathes and hydrates the hydrogel, a microenvironment of higher drug concentration is created locally as the drug diffuses into this fluid. Sirolimus had a local effect of reducing adhesion incidence in this model, an observation which may be attributed to one or more of its mechanisms as an antiproliferative and antifibrotic agent.

The device developed is inexpensively made, using easily obtained materials. Approximate cost of raw materials for one 1 cm² mesh, using the latest pricing from Sigma Aldrich and Ethicon, is less than \$10 (**Table 3-1**). Making the mesh also required use of laboratory equipment and

space (hot plate, petri dishes, syringes, pipets, blunt tip large gauge needles, parafilm, foil, refrigerator, etc.) as well as technician time and assistance, and this estimate also does not include the cost of commercialization. It represents a relatively low-cost solution to the very costly problem of complications due to adhesion formation.

Future work with this model can improve its viability as a clinical intervention, both in the setting of hernia repair, and as a surgical adjunct. Hernia mesh requires ingrowth of native tissue to ensure an effective repair, and ways to quantify this have been developed such as explant strength testing. A future student may continue this work by attaching a dynamometer to the mesh and fixing the abdominal wall with sutures; the force required to disrupt the mesh from the surrounding tissue represents the explant strength. This information would address concerns that the hydrogel or sirolimus may have detrimental effects on repair success. Data regarding would healing may be developed further to address this complication of sirolimus in immunosuppressant use.

Histological analysis of specimens was impeded by the technical challenge of cutting mesh, however, accomplishing this will provide valuable information regarding the presence of fibroblasts, collagen and fibrosis, and confirm the SEM observations of populations of peritoneal mesothelial cells. Future development of dose response curves may be used to minimize the effective concentration of sirolimus required, as well as determine side effect profiles at higher doses. A sirolimus-containing hydrogel sheet may be made and trialed in other established models of adhesion formation, such as the rabbit uterine horn or rat cecal abrasion model, to evaluate the benefit in a different surgical challenge. While a small cohort of 4/5 animals receiving sirolimus-eluting, hydrogelimpregnated mesh survived to necropsy at 1 year, long term follow-up is necessary to document complications from the use of the device.

The vast majority of discoveries made in animal models in the area of adhesion research have not been employed clinically. The reasons for this are many-fold, and may include inaccessibility of the device/drug, limited or no long-term safety data, and the challenges inherent in using a device which may never be visually reassessed for the life of the patient. Follow-up laparoscopy to identify adhesion formation puts patients at unnecessary risk, and so confirmation of findings in animal models may be a remote possibility for many of the interventions that have been proposed. As well, it is difficult to estimate the clinical relevance and meaning of adhesion – some of which are symptomatic in the early postoperative period, and others may take years, if ever, to manifest in an individual patient. We can only theorize that reducing adhesion incidence relates to an associated decrease in complications, and accordingly,

reducing adhesion incidence to zero may be the only true successful outcome to pursue (**Figure 3-1**).

The majority of what is known about adhesion formation has been discovered only within the last twenty years. Despite real difficulties in assessing the safety and clinical efficacy of anti-adhesion adjuncts, the sheer magnitude of adhesion-related complications and cost should compel surgical research to facilitate this leap: from a safe, successful model to a trusted, effective clinical intervention. Table 3-1. Cost estimation of raw materials for 1cm² sirolimuseluting, hydrogel-impregnated polypropylene mesh. Prices quoted are from suppliers Sigma Aldrich and Ethicon and are current at time of printing.

	Cost
Sirolimus, 10 mcg	\$4.30
Polypropylene mesh, 1 cm ²	\$4.97
Agarose, 0.002g	\$0.005
PBS and EtOH to solubilize reagents	negligible
Total	\$9.28

Figure 3-1. Necropsy photo from animal that required euthanasia before experimental end point. Mesh has been excised before image taken. A single adhesive band (arrow), at a location away from the implanted mesh, appears to be responsible for a volvulized segment of intestine and resulting obstruction. This image illustrates the potentially severe complications of any adhesion formation, regardless of extent.



APPENDIX

APPENDIX A: DEVELOPMENT OF THE MODEL

Several different materials and methods were trialed before arriving at the current model.

Selecting an Animal Model

There are several established animal models in the literature to study adhesions, including the rabbit uterine horn and the rat cecal abrasion model, as well as similar murine studies. Choosing a mouse model offers the benefits of a small scale, as well as the convenience of access to mouse equipment and housing in our lab facilities. Anecdotal reports suggest mice are more likely to form intestine-intestine adhesions than rats, which is a very clinically relevant finding.

Promoting Adhesiogenesis

It was found that implantation of the mesh alone was not a sufficient stimulus to adhesion formation in the majority of animals. Swabbing of the abdominal contents with a cotton-tip applicator was necessary: animals that underwent sham laparotomy (no rub, no mesh) were found to have no adhesions on necropsy.

Fixation of Mesh

In the first series of animals, the mesh was sutured to the parietal peritoneum at two points (superior right and inferior left corners). In several cases, abdominal organs (intestine) were then able to become positioned between the abdominal wall and the mesh and were found trapped in this space on necropsy. Securing the mesh with suture at all four corners minimized but did not entirely prevent this situation. Any abdominal viscera which had become incarcerated in this space were not scored as adhesions, as only the side of the mesh facing the peritoneal cavity was considered to be the relevant surface.

Lipectomy

In many of the first series of animals, the two epididymal fat pads had a propensity to migrate caudally and cover the mesh, preventing evaluation of the adhesiogenicity of the mesh. As these structures do not exist in humans, their removal is likely of no clinically relevant consequence. Studies in mice undergoing lipectomy in this fashion suggest the animal soon regains the lost body mass by gaining adipose tissue in other areas. To enhance the sensitivity and relevance of the model, all animals were lipectomized.

Intraperitoneal Delivery of Sirolimus

Sirolimus is commercially available for human pharmacologic use as an oral medication, in tablet or liquid form. Early trials were performed using the mouse mesh model and the crushed tablet form of the drug, however, a robust adhesion reaction was noted on necropsy: the confounding effect of additives (non-medicinal ingredients such as cornstarch) had not been taken into account.

A series of animals underwent mesh implantation and then daily intraperitoneal injections of sirolimus or PBS control for one month. These animals also showed significant adhesion formation on necropsy, and there was a presumed influence of additives to the oral liquid preparation on the adhesiogenicity of the model. These two pilot studies prompted the exclusive use of pure powdered sirolimus obtained by a chemical supplier.

Vehicle for Drug Delivery

Applying the drug to the mesh is a critical step in the process. In the first and perhaps most crude attempt, a sirolimus tablet was crushed and reconstituted into a paste using PBS. This paste was applied directly to the mesh square before implantation. It was then decided that a substance should be introduced to the model in order to keep the drug adherent to the mesh and permit elution of the drug over time. Several industry contacts were approached, including Angiotech (involved in development of sirolimus-eluting and paclitaxel-eluting coronary stent)

and Wyeth (makers of Rapamune [sirolimus]) however proprietary issues prevented the release of specific and helpful suggestions regarding development of a drug-eluting mesh.

Two substances were trialed in the laboratory as potential vehicles for drug delivery and fixation to the mesh: the first was methylcellulose (10%), which did not solidify >24 hours after preparation and was therefore unsuitable for the purpose, and the second was agarose.

Agarose, in a 2% concentration (similar to that used in gel electrophoresis applications) was easily handled in a warmed, liquid form and quickly solidified to a gel when cooled to room temperature. By adding the sirolimus to the heated agarose while stirring, the drug could be evenly distributed and suspended in the mixture.

APPENDIX B: ELUTION STUDY

To determine the rate of elution of drug from the mesh, an elution study was devised based on consultation with Philip Toleikis at Sernova.

Method:

A 10 cm² piece of polypropylene mesh (2 x 5 cm) was prepared using the protocol as outlined in Chapter 2, with the additional condition of sterility imposed. A total of 100 micrograms of SRL in 1cc of 2% agarose was applied. The gel was allowed to harden for >24 hours before being placed in a 250cc bath of sterile fetal calf serum. The sterile container was sealed, placed in a 37C incubator, and agitated by mechanical shaker at approximately 2 cycles/second.

Aliquots of serum (1 cc) were removed at prescribed intervals and sent to the hospital lab for quantification of sirolimus levels.

The experiment was performed in triplicate and exposure to light was minimized.

Results:

The elution curve produced is seen in Figure Appendix B – 1. The maximum amount of sirolimus that could be measured in the serum (assuming all drug leaves the mesh and becomes suspended in the serum) is calculated as 400 mcg/L. All three trials had a maximum level of sirolimus at first measurement (at t=6 hours) that declined precipitously over the first few days.

At the end of the experiment (day 21), the agarose was still present on the mesh and had not dissolved or degraded on gross inspection.

Discussion:

There may be several reasons to explain the lower than expected levels of sirolimus. Firstly, the laboratory testing is normally done on samples of whole blood, which has higher proteins and lipid content. Sirolimus binds to these substances and the assay may be exploiting this property to estimate the quantity. Actual levels of sirolimus in the serum may be therefore higher than reported, a caveat which we were warned of on submitting the samples for analysis. The assay should therefore be repeated using a different quantification method (eg. high performance liquid chromatography). It is also possible that a proportion of sirolimus bound to the polymer in the container or indeed remained bound to the mesh or agarose. Additionally, sirolimus is known to be light-sensitive and it is possible that the drug degraded with time.

Figure Appendix B-1. Elution of sirolimus into fetal calf serum over time. Experiment performed in triplicate (groups A, B, C).



Day

APPENDIX C: HISTOLOGY

Randomly selected specimens of mesh from three experimental groups (plain control, hydrogel control and SRL + hydrogel) at the 4-week time point were excised and fixed in Z-fix solution. After preparation into slides using standard lab protocols, the specimens were stained to identify and characterize the tissue reaction that the implant incited. Opinion was provided by Dr. Aducio Thiesen of the Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology.

Hematoxylin and eosin stain (H&E) was first used to determine the cell populations and architecture present (Figures 1A-C). Masson's Trichrome stain was performed to identify areas of fibrosis, the presence of which is indicated by a bright blue staining (Figures 2A-C). Immunohistochemistry using D2-40 was also performed to mark the presence of peritoneal mesothelial cells (Figures 3A-C).

It was found on histologic examination that there was fibrosis and collagen around the mesh fibres in all specimens, but a more pronounced reaction was seen in the plain mesh samples. In mesh that had been treated with agarose hydrogel (with or without SRL), there was an increase in the population of mesothelial cells and their architectural arrangement was in keeping with an organized layer upon the agarose. It can be theorized that the fibrosis around the mesh filaments confers structural strength to

the hernia repair model, while the layer of "neoperitoneum" which forms over the agarose prevents adhesion formation.

Figure Appendix C-1 A-C: Hematoxylin and eosin staining of 4-week specimens from (A) plain mesh, (B) agarose hydrogel and (C) agarose hydrogel + SRL. Arrows denote the presence of peritoneal mesothelial cells.

(A)







Figure Appendix C-2 A-C: Masson's Trichrome staining of 4-week specimens from (A) plain mesh, (B) agarose hydrogel and (C) agarose hydrogel + SRL. Fibrosis stains blue.

(A)







Figure Appendix C-3 A-C: Immunohistochemical staining for D2-40 in 4-week specimens from (A) plain mesh, (B) agarose hydrogel and (C) agarose hydrogel + SRL. This marker of peritoneal mesothelial cells appears brown. Lines of organized peritoneal mesothelial cells are indicated by black ellipses.

(A)







(C)